
a) The 1999 figures are adjusted to show the situation as if the Genentech transactions, the vitamin case and the Genen-
tech legal settlements had not taken place.

b) EBITDA: Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation. This corresponds to operating profit before
depreciation and amortisation. 

c) Dividend 1999 as proposed by the Board of Directors. This does not include the proposed special dividend relating
to the spin-off of the Fragrances and Flavours Division.

1999 % change 1999
Key figures in millions of CHF adjusteda) 1998 adjusted actual

Sales 27,567 24,662 +12 27,567
EBITDAb) 7,324 6,444 +14 8,874
Operating profit 5,064 4,371 +16 6,421
Net income 5,031 4,392 +15 5,764
Research and development 3,782 3,408 +11 3,782
Additions to property, plant and equipment 2,150 1,883 +14 2,150
Total assets 64,717 55,879 +16 70,431
Equity 26,353 21,666 +22 26,954

Personnel
Number of employees at end of year 67,695 66,707 +1 67,695

Ratios
Net income as % of sales 18 18 21
Net income as % of equity 19 20 21
Research and development 
as % of sales 14 14 14
Equity and minority interests 
as % of total assets 43 41 43

Data on shares and non-voting equity securities in CHF

Net income per share 
and non-voting equity security 583 509 668
Dividend per share 
and non-voting equity securityc) 100 87 100
Equity per share 
and non-voting equity security 3,055 2,512 3,125



Sales by region

Sales by division

Diagnostics 19%

Africa, Australia 
and Oceania 3%

Asia 11%

North America 37%

Pharmaceuticals 60%

Fragrances and Flavours 8%

Europe 40%

Latin America 9%

Employees by division

Vitamins and 
Fine Chemicals 13% 

Fragrances 
and Flavours 7%

Diagnostics 22%

Vitamins and 
Fine Chemicals 11%

Pharmaceuticals 60%

Employees by region

Africa, Australia 
and Oceania 3%

Asia 11%

Europe 50%

Latin America 9%

North America 27%
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2 Letter from the Chairman

Our Group recorded another good result in 1999, amid some exceptional challenges.

Sales were up substantially for the year, increasing 12% to approximately 27.6 billion

Swiss francs. Expressed in local currencies, sales showed a robust 9% gain. Net income

climbed 31% to 5.8 billion Swiss francs. This record result was fuelled largely by another

year-on-year increase in operating profit and also by another very good financial result.

To an almost unprecedented degree, one-off gains and special charges have had an

impact on this year’s financial statements – the former arising from the sale of Genen-

tech stock, the latter primarily from the vitamin case.

Letter from the Chairman
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In view of the Group’s very good over-
all result, the Board of Directors will
propose a 15% dividend increase, from
87 to 100 Swiss francs per share and
non-voting equity security, at the Annual
General Meeting. If approved, this
will be the thirteenth increase in as
many years. Including the market value
of the proposed special dividend of
Givaudan shares and the withholding
taxes that will be paid by Roche,
the value of this year’s total dividend
is likely to exceed 600 francs.

The credit for our success must go
primarily to our employees, and I want
to thank them here for their profes-
sionalism and great dedication.

It is no exaggeration to say that we had
to meet a number of major challenges
in 1999. This applies above all to our
operating activities, where the trend
towards industrial consolidation con-
tinued at a rapid pace in key sectors.
Roche did a very good job of holding
its own in this constantly changing
environment. Sales by the Pharma-
ceuticals and Diagnostics divisions
grew well ahead of the market. In the
Vitamins and Fine Chemicals and
Fragrances and Flavours divisions,
sales accelerated markedly in the
second half of the year after getting
off to a slow start.

The past months have seen the Phar-
maceuticals Division launch a number
of innovative new medicines, most
notably Xenical, Tamiflu and Her-
ceptin. Today we have a broad portfolio
of new and well-established products
providing a solid basis for future
growth. The Diagnostics and Fra-
grances and Flavours divisions not only

remained the global leaders in their
industries, but actually expanded their
leads in important segments. Finally,
thanks to substantial volume growth,
the Vitamins and Fine Chemicals Divi-
sion consolidated its global market
leadership last year.

Apart from being a year of dynamic
growth, 1999 saw some watershed
events. One of these, certainly, was the
decision to spin off the Fragrances and
Flavours Division and list it on the
stock exchange as a separate global
Group. The spin-off, which is still
subject to shareholder approval at the
Annual General Meeting, is another
important step in our strategy of
focusing on our core businesses in the
preventive care, diagnostic and thera-
peutic markets – a strategy we have
steadily pursued now for years. I am
certain that Givaudan is ideally
equipped to go it alone and to expand
its share of the high-potential inter-
national market for fragrances and
flavours.

As referred to earlier, extremely posi-
tive developments relating to Genen-
tech, in which we have held a majority
interest since 1990, had a favourable
impact on the Group’s overall result.
After exercising our buyout option in
mid-1999 and briefly holding a 100%
ownership interest in Genentech, we
resold some of our stake at a substan-
tial profit in two public offerings. We
will retain a majority interest in this

Roche can look back on an exceptionally successful decade.

Since 1990 our sales have tripled, and net income has increased

fivefold.
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successful biotechnology leader, while
continuing to respect Genentech’s need
for operational independence, as our
two companies extend their long-
standing, mutually beneficial relation-
ship.

There is no question that the Vitamins
Division’s involvement in the vitamin
price-fixing case cast a shadow over
what was otherwise a very good year.
Apart from its substantial impact on
profits for 1999, the vitamin case has
dealt a very serious blow to our efforts

to retain and strengthen the confidence
of the public, and above all of our cus-
tomers, by adhering to the highest
standards of business conduct as well
as through sustained success in the
marketplace. We have learned the right
lessons from these events and will do
everything possible to ensure that such
misconduct is never repeated.

Paul Sacher passed away on 26 May
1999. A member of the Board of Direc-
tors for roughly 60 years, he influenced
the Group’s history to an almost un-
paralleled degree. As a musician and
patron of the arts, Paul Sacher was also
a major force in shaping the music of
the twentieth century. This great man
will not be forgotten.

Roche can look back on an exception-
ally successful decade. Since 1990
our sales have tripled, and net income
has increased fivefold. Our operating
profit margin has risen from 10% in
1990 to 21% in 1999. Even by interna-
tional standards this is a remarkable
track record, and a glance at the per-
formance of Roche securities shows
that it has not gone unappreciated by
investors. Over the past decade Roche’s
market capitalisation has increased
almost tenfold, from 18 billion to
174 billion Swiss francs.

We are very solidly positioned for
further growth in the years ahead – a
conviction shared by the Board of
Directors and the Executive Commit-
tee. The ability and the will to see
change as opportunity, to be open to
the new, will be decisive. Throughout
its history Roche has been committed
to innovation, and this will remain
the key to our future success.

Roche takes action in response to vitamin price-fixing case
In May 1999 we informed our employees and the public that Roche and the US Depart-
ment of Justice had reached a settlement requiring Roche to pay a fine of 500 million
US dollars (776 million Swiss francs) in connection with price-fixing in the vitamins
industry. We have actively addressed the legal issues raised by Roche’s role in the case,
in addition to making appropriate organisational and personnel changes. A new team has
been appointed to head the Vitamins and Fine Chemicals Division.
Following the settlement with the US Department of Justice, we contacted the authori-
ties in other countries to offer our cooperation in their investigations into the vitamins
pricing cartel. Roche agreed to pay a settlement of 632 million US dollars to its bulk
vitamins customers in the United States; negotiations with the companies that have
elected to opt out of the settlement are ongoing. We are also negotiating with the plain-
tiffs in a number of lawsuits filed on behalf of indirect purchasers and consumers in the
United States. In Canada Roche paid a fine and settlement together totalling 50.9 million
Canadian dollars. Investigations are currently still in progress in Australia, Brazil, the
European Union, Japan, Mexico and Switzerland. Roche is cooperating with the regula-
tory authorities in all of these countries. Additional provisions relating to the above
have been made and charged against income for 1999.
Anticompetitive or unethical business practices must not be tolerated at Roche. Over
a four-month period in the second half of 1999 Roche’s corporate principles and a range
of issues relating to behaviour in competition were explained and discussed in a Group-
wide programme attended by a total of about 7500 management-level employees from
all four divisions and Roche’s central corporate departments. Additionally, a team whose
main job will be to monitor compliance with Group principles and guidelines worldwide
was set up in the internal auditing unit. A commitment to the highest standards of legal
and ethical business conduct is, and will continue to be, a decisive success factor as we
pursue our business strategy of innovation and scientific excellence.

Fritz Gerber Franz B. Humer
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The Group has continued to show
positive growth through the first
months of 2000. Barring extraordinary
events, we expect Roche to post
another good overall result in 2000.

Fritz Gerber
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In 1999 we continued to consolidate our position as a leading healthcare company as

sales and profits reached new highs. The Pharmaceuticals and Diagnostics Divisions both

reported market share gains on double-digit sales growth. In its first full year on the

market Xenical, our novel medicine for obesity, recorded nearly 1 billion Swiss francs in

sales. Our market presence in primary care was additionally strengthened by the launch

of the innovative oral anti-influenza drug Tamiflu. The Vitamins and Fine Chemicals

and Fragrances and Flavours Divisions also posted healthy sales increases in the second

half of the year. Dynamic sales growth had a very positive impact on Group profitability,

with net income and operating profit both advancing by double digits.

Letter from the CEO
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Roche’s earnings performance contin-
ued to improve in 1999. On a compa-
rable basis, EBITDA (earnings before
interest, taxes, depreciation and amor-
tisation) rose 14%, or 880 million
Swiss francs, to 7.3 billion Swiss francs,
and operating profit climbed 16% to
reach a record high of 5.1 billion Swiss
francs. Including one-off gains and
special charges, operating profit was up
markedly, rising 47%, or 2,050 million
Swiss francs, to 6.4 billion Swiss francs.
The Group also posted another excel-
lent financial result, with total financial
income showing an impressive year-
on-year rise of 5% to 1.1 billion Swiss
francs.

Operating profitability at Group level
improved once again as operating
profit outpaced sales growth. Our
EBITDA and operating margins both
gained about 0.5% for the year, advanc-
ing to 27% and 18%, respectively.
In the years ahead we want to stay on
target with above-market internal growth
in our core healthcare businesses.
To do that, we intend to continue using
Roche’s strong earnings performance
productively for substantial invest-
ments in research, development, pro-
duction and marketing.

In 1999 we significantly expanded
our market presence, increasing expen-
ditures for marketing and distribution
by about 1 billion Swiss francs to
7.8 billion francs. A major part of this
additional spending went towards
further strengthening our sales forces
in the Pharmaceuticals and Diagnostics
Divisions. In October 1999 we also
launched large-scale campaigns to
inform US and Canadian patients and
doctors about obesity and Xenical

and about influenza and Tamiflu.
Encouraged by the success of these
campaigns, we will continue our efforts
to furnish more information directly
to patients.

Group expenditures on research and
development rose 11% to 3.8 billion
Swiss francs. In the Pharmaceuticals

Division, which accounted for 80% of
the total figure, R&D investment
equalled 18.5% of sales. Overall R&D
spending held steady at 14% of con-
solidated sales. Our strong focus on
innovation remains unchanged
and underscores our commitment to
developing even more effective ways
to prevent and treat disease. Carefully
targeted integrated healthcare proj-
ects drawing on Roche’s expertise
in therapeutics and diagnostics have
already yielded tangible results.
Diagnostic-therapeutic packages are
now available for HIV, breast cancer
and influenza, for example, and this is
just the start. Good progress is being

made on developing integrated health-
care solutions for other therapeutic
areas as well.

In 1999 the Pharmaceuticals Division
consolidated its global lead in the
hospital market while significantly
strengthening its position in primary

Operating profit reached a record high in 1999, and our profit

margin, I am very happy to note, was also up for the year.

In sharpening our focus in research, development and marketing,

our aim is to be even faster to market with cost-effective ways

of preventing and treating disease.
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care. EBITDA and operating profit for
the division totalled 4.8 and 3.5 billion
Swiss francs, respectively, as sales
advanced 15% to 16.5 billion Swiss
francs. The division’s operating and
EBITDA margins held steady at 21%
and 29%, despite a substantial rise
in marketing and distribution costs
attributable to new product launches,
particularly the introduction of
Xenical.

In late 1999 we launched the oral
anti-influenza drug Tamiflu in its first
two markets – the United States and
Switzerland – where it quickly estab-
lished clear market leadership. In
addition, we introduced Herceptin
(for metastatic breast cancer) in its
first markets outside the United States;
Genentech supplies this drug to the
US market. Further important mar-
keting applications were filed for
Xeloda (colorectal cancer), Cymeval
(cytomegalovirus retinitis) and
CellCept (acute liver transplant rejec-
tion). Good progress was also made
on preparing regulatory filings for
Pegasys (hepatitis C) and Bonviva
(osteoporosis).

Xenical quickly became our number-
three seller, joining Rocephin (bacterial
infections) and Roaccutan/Accutane
(severe acne) as our third marketed
product with expected annual sales of
more than 1 billion Swiss francs. Four
of our other medicines have the poten-
tial to generate over half a billion Swiss
francs in sales annually. In the United

States Genentech recorded a 50%
growth surge, with sales rising to 1.5
billion Swiss francs thanks to very good
market responses to the company’s new
medicines.

In 1999 we began realigning our opera-
tions in pharmaceutical research and
marketing. For example, life cycle
teams were created to manage our key
products from the early phase of devel-
opment to the end of their life cycles.
One aim here is to shorten the time it
takes to bring a product to market, but
we also want to take fuller advantage of
economies of scale while maintaining a
sharp focus on local market require-
ments.

We also closely reviewed our pharma-
ceuticals portfolio – from research
and development projects to products
in production – and set clear prior-
ities. In particular, our drug discovery
efforts have been restricted to a tighter
range of therapeutic areas. The focus
is now on areas where there are sig-
nificant unmet medical needs and
thus above-average potential for
growth.

The Diagnostics Division grew sub-
stantially faster than the global average
in 1999, helping us to expand our mar-
ket lead in the industry. Sales rose 14%
to 5.3 billion Swiss francs. EBITDA
increased 18% to 1.4 billion Swiss
francs, and operating profit was up
29% to 0.8 billion Swiss francs. The
division’s EBITDA margin continued
to improve, advancing one percentage
point to 27%, and its operating margin
increased from 13% to 15%. All four
divisional business units contributed to
this strong performance.

The very successful launches of our antiobesity medicine

Xenical and of Tamiflu for influenza have significantly re-

inforced our presence in the fast-growing primary care market.
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The new analysers launched by the
Laboratory Systems unit offer innova-
tive solutions for automating and inte-
grating laboratory workflows, and their
market potential is correspondingly
high. The Patient Care unit continued
to reinforce its position in the diabetes
market, helped by the successful global

launch of a new self-testing system for
blood glucose monitoring. Demand for
tests to diagnose and monitor infec-
tious diseases such as AIDS and hepa-
titis remained strong, accounting for
much of the dynamic growth in the
division’s Molecular Diagnostics busi-
ness. A key growth driver for the
Molecular Biochemicals unit was the
LightCycler diagnostic system, intro-
duced in additional markets during
the year. This PCR-based system is ca-
pable of amplifying and analysing DNA
samples in a matter of minutes.

In the Vitamins and Fine Chemicals
Division sales advanced by a modest
1% for the year, to 3.6 billion Swiss
francs, following a marked upturn in
the second half. Vitamin prices contin-
ued to decline on world markets, which
meant that profit margins remained
under pressure. EBITDA fell to 0.8
billion Swiss francs and amounted
to 22% of sales. Operating profit
declined 13% to 0.6 billion Swiss
francs, and the division’s operating
margin was down to 16%. The effects
of price erosion were partially offset
by productivity and volume gains –
particularly for vitamins A, B1 and

C and biotin. In fact, sales volume
reached a new all-time high. Overall,
we maintained our position as the
world’s leading supplier of vitamins
and carotenoids while continuing to
expand our lead for some products.
Although the vitamins business re-
mains fiercely competitive, Roche’s

market prospects are good. Increas-
ingly health-conscious consumers and
the development of new markets –
together with Roche’s cost-leadership
and comprehensive know-how – will
help create opportunities for us here.

Sales by the Fragrances and Flavours
Division rose 5% to 2.1 billion Swiss
francs. Uncompromising attention to
the needs of key global customers and
consolidation of purchasing and pro-
duction operations have resulted in
substantial gains in efficiency and prof-
itability. EBITDA as a percentage of
sales increased from 19% to 24%, and
the division’s operating margin rose
even faster, climbing from 13% to 19%.
Assuming that shareholders approve
the proposed spin-off, an independent
Givaudan will be ideally equipped
to expand its global market lead in the
fragrances and flavours industry.

Our strong operating performance and
solid business outlook enabled us to
create nearly 1000 additional jobs in
1999 – a large proportion of them in
the Diagnostics Division – bringing
the total number of employees in the
Group to 67,695. I am well aware that

the Group’s excellent results could
never have been achieved without the
dedication and hard work of our
employees around the globe and at
every organisational level. I would like
to take this additional opportunity to
express my appreciation and thanks to
them all.

Mounting pressures to curb healthcare
costs, combined with the need to
improve medical care, pose an enor-
mous challenge for us, but they also
offer tremendous opportunities.
Thanks to advances in science and
technology, factors and mechanisms
that cause or contribute to disease can
now be identified earlier, enabling us to
take faster more effective action. This
opens up some excellent prospects for
Roche: Integrated healthcare solutions
addressing specific medical needs with
complementary preventive, diagnostic
and therapeutic products and services
will be the wave of the future.

We have equipped all of our divisions
well to continue achieving solid growth.

Modern diagnostic products from Roche play a major role in

supporting rational healthcare decisions, optimising treatments

and detecting disease early.

Franz B. Humer
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Paul Sacher passed away on 26 May 1999. He served on the Board of Directors
for roughly 60 years, since 1996 as an honorary member. He has left his lasting
personal mark on Roche and was closely associated with the company until his
death.

The Board of Directors was restructured during the year, with the creation
of a Finance & Investment Committee (chair, Rolf Hänggi), an Audit Committee
(chair, Andres F. Leuenberger) and a Compensation Committee (chair, Rolf
Hänggi).

In May 1999 Roland Brönnimann, head of the Vitamins and Fine Chemicals
Division, and Kuno Sommer, former head of marketing of the Vitamins and Fine
Chemicals Division and CEO of Givaudan Roure since 1998, left Roche. Markus
Altwegg, head of Pharma Switzerland, was appointed as new head of the Vitamins
and Fine Chemicals Division. Jürg Witmer, general manager of Roche Austria,
was named CEO of Givaudan Roure.

Effective 1 January 2000, William M. Burns, previously in charge of the Pharma-
ceuticals Division’s regional operations in Europe and Africa, joined the Executive
Committee as head of Pharma International Operations. Otto A. Meile, head
of the Diagnostics Division, will retire in mid-2000. He has already been succeeded
by Heino von Prondzynski.

Board of Directors
and Executive Committee

The members of the Executive Committee (from left):
William M. Burns (from 1 January 2000), 
Heino von Prondzynski (from 1 April 2000), 
Daniel Villiger, Henri B. Meier, 
Franz B. Humer (Chairman), 
Markus Altwegg, Jonathan Knowles, 
Otto A. Meile (until 31 March 2000)
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Secretary to 
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Group Auditors
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Chairman
Vice chairman
Vice chairman
Delegate

Chairman, head of Pharmaceuticals Division
Finance

Diagnostics Division
Diagnostics Division
Vitamins and Fine Chemicals Division

Pharma International Operations
Global Pharmaceutical Research
Corporate Services

Auditors of Roche Holding Ltd

Group auditors

Dr h.c. Fritz Gerber
Dr Andres F. Leuenberger
Rolf Hänggi
Dr Franz B. Humer

André Hoffmann
Prof. Dr Kurt Jenny
Dr Henri B. Meier
Dr Andreas Oeri
Prof. Dr Werner Stauffacher
Prof. Dr Charles Weissmann

Dr Gottlieb A. Keller

Dr Franz B. Humer
Dr Henri B. Meier

Otto A. Meile1

Heino von Prondzynski2

Dr Markus Altwegg

William M. Burns
Prof. Dr Jonathan Knowles
Dr Daniel Villiger

Pierre Jaccoud

ATAG Ernst & Young Ltd

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG

Finance & Investment Committee
Audit Committee
Compensation Committee

1 Until 31 March 2000
2 From 1 April 2000

1 January 2000
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Trends in Performance

Price development of non-voting equity security (Genussschein) in CHF

20,000

16,000

12,000

8,000

4,000

0

Roche non-voting equity security Swiss Market Index (adjusted)

1999199819971996199519941993199219911990

Over the past few years Roche has
vigorously implemented its strategy of
being among the best in every area in
which it does business. Between 1995
and 1999 consolidated sales have
almost doubled. The contributions by
the dynamic Pharmaceuticals and
Diagnostics Divisions have risen to
around 80% and will increase further
after the spin-off of Givaudan. Roche’s
earning power has also experienced
healthy growth, with both EBITDA and
operating profit showing double-digit
gains each year. In 1999 consolidated

net income exceeded 5 billion Swiss
francs for the first time. The positive
trend in Roche’s stock-market capitali-
sation over the years reflects the
Group’s good performance.



Sales by division in millions of CHF
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1) Before special charges.
2) On an adjusted basis.
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Arthur M. of Basel (Switzerland) has
been bursting with energy since he
shed 15 kilograms (33 pounds) with
the help of Xenical and the right diet.
He has recently started playing sports
again and is enjoying every minute of it.

Our outstanding research teams are engaged in an intensive hunt for innovative,
cost-effective medicines and therapies to fight serious diseases. Roche remains committed
to developing targeted therapies that bring about lasting improvements in patients’ health 
and quality of life.
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Pharmaceuticals
The Pharmaceuticals Division again posted a substantial sales increase for the year.

Sales of prescription medicines grew faster than the industry in all major markets,

increasing the division’s share of consolidated sales revenues to roughly 60%. EBITDA

and operating profit increased further, despite substantial expenditures for the launch of

new products. Xenical, Roche’s novel medicine for obesity and obesity-related health

risks, generated sales of nearly 1 billion Swiss francs. Helped by Xenical and the innova-

tive new influenza medicine Tamiflu, Roche significantly expanded its presence in

primary care, while reinforcing its global lead in the hospital/specialist segment. In 1999

the division laid a solid basis for further market share gains as it began refocusing its

research, development and marketing on selected therapeutic areas.

Pharmaceuticals Division in brief

in millions of CHF change
1999 98/99

Sales 16,487 +15%
– Prescription products 13,379 +14%
– Genentech 1,523 +50%
– Consumer self-medication 1,585 –3%

EBITDA1) 4,759 +15%
Operating profit1) 3,504 +16%
R&D expenditures 3,048 +11%
Employees 40,299 +1%

1) 1999 EBITDA and operating profit are shown on an adjusted basis.
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Europe, and that a number of non-core
products were also divested late in 1998.

For the Pharmaceuticals Division the
year was highlighted by the successful
launches of two innovative products: the
anti-obesity drug Xenical and Tamiflu,
an oral medicine for influenza. These
new products have significantly
strengthened the division’s presence in
the primary care segment worldwide. In
the space of several months Xenical
posted sales of nearly 1 billion Swiss
francs, making it Roche’s third largest-
selling medicine.

Roche once again significantly enhanced
its position in virology, a therapeutic
area where it was already strong. Initial
market launches of Tamiflu, the first of a
new class of influenza medicines in cap-
sule form, were a major factor behind
this improvement. Moreover, combined
sales of Roche’s HIV medicines Viracept
and Invirase/Fortovase showed double-
digit growth.

The market roll-out of the new anticancer
medicines Mabthera/Rituxan, Xeloda and
Herceptin is also moving ahead very well.

In the transplantation segment, CellCept
sales once again rose sharply for the
year, helped by Japanese marketing
approval and expanded labelling for new
indications. The cardiovascular
medicine Dilatrend/Coreg also contin-
ued to post substantial growth.

Among Roche’s established products,
Roaccutan/Accutane (acne), Dormicum/
Versed (anesthesia and sedation) and
NeoRecormon (anemia) showed strong
sales growth. With Xenical on the
market, Roche now has a third product

In the therapeutic areas we wish to focus on, research,

development and marketing will work together even more

closely to supply patients and doctors with even more

effective products in the shortest possible time frame.
Franz B. Humer, CEO, head of the Pharmaceuticals Division

Leading drugs show strong sales
growth. The Pharmaceuticals Division
increased its share of the market in
1999. Sales were up sharply, advancing
15% to 16,487 million Swiss francs. This
represented a 12% gain in local currency
terms. Sales of prescription medicines
(including Genentech) rose even faster,
climbing 17% (14% in local currencies)
to 14,902 million Swiss francs. EBITDA
rose to 4,759 million Swiss francs on an
increased operating profit of 3,504 mil-
lion Swiss francs. These gains are all
the more impressive when one considers
that in 1998 marketing rights to the
strong-selling anticancer medicine Neu-
pogen reverted to Amgen for most of
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Top-selling prescription products
Product Generic name Indication Sales in 1999 in millions of CHF

Rocephin ceftriaxone Bacterial infections 1,760
Roaccutan/Accutane isotretinoin Severe acne 1,040
Xenical orlistat Obesity 940
Dormicum/Versed midazolam Anesthesia and sedation 840
CellCept mycophenolate mofetil Transplantation, prevention of acute

rejection 560
NeoRecormon epoetin beta Anemia 480
Viracept nelfinavir mesylate HIV infection 430
Invirase/Fortovase saquinavir HIV infection 350
Lexotan bromazepam Anxiety and tension states 280
Roferon-A interferon alfa-2a Hepatitis B and C, cancer 280
Furtulon doxifluridine Cancer of the colon, breast and stomach 280
Neupogen filgrastim, G-CSF Neutropenia 250
Rocaltrol calcitriol Osteoporosis 250
Madopar levodopa + benserazide Parkinson’s disease 240
Cymevene/Cytovene ganciclovir Cytomegalovirus infection 210

Successful product launches in 1998 and 1999*
Product Generic name Indication Sales in 1999 in millions of CHF

CellCept mycophenolat mofetil Treatment of acute kidney transplant 
rejection 560

Herceptin1) trastuzumab Breast cancer 3003)

Invirase/Fortovase saquinavir HIV infection 350
Mabthera/Rituxan1) rituximab Low-grade non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma 4903)

Roferon-A interferon alfa-2a Adjuvant therapy of malignant melanoma 280
Tamiflu2) oseltamivir (GS 4104) Treatment of influenza A and B 60
Viracept nelfinavir mesylate HIV infection 430
Xeloda capecitabine Breast cancer 90
Xenical orlistat Obesity 940
Zenapax daclizumab Transplantation, prevention of acute 

rejection 30

* Includes supplementary indications
1) Jointly developed and marketed by Roche and

Genentech
2) Jointly developed by Roche and Gilead Sciences
3) Combined sales by Roche and Genentech

Roche’s broad-based portfolio includes three
products that are expected to generate annual
sales of over 1 billion Swiss francs each and a fur-
ther four with annual sales potential of over half
a billion Swiss francs. In the last two years Roche
has either launched or gained new indications
for ten prescription products, each representing
a significant advance for patients.
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besides Rocephin and Roaccutan with
expected annual sales of over 1 billion
Swiss francs. And an additional four
products (Dormicum/Versed, CellCept,
NeoRecormon and Viracept) have the
potential to generate sales of over
half a billion Swiss francs annually.

Japan Roche once again gained market
share, with three of the Japanese affili-
ate’s ten top-selling products posting
growth rates of better than 20%. The
division also strengthened its market
position substantially throughout the
rest of Asia and in Latin America.

Sales by region

North America 40%

Latin America 10%
Japan 6%

Europe 36%

Others 8%

Inflammatory and autoimmune diseases 15%

Sales by therapeutic area

Prescription products (includes Genentech)

Cardiovascular diseases 11%

Dermatology 8%

Infectious diseases 15%

Metabolic disorders 12%
Others 2%

Central nervous system 16%Oncology, virology 21%

Prescription products by therapeutic
area.
Metabolic disorders – therapeutic area
with top priority. Xenical received US
regulatory clearance from the Food and
Drug Administration (FDA) in April
1999, and by the end of the year it was
available in most industrialised coun-
tries. Roughly 5 million patients in a
total of over 40 countries have already
been treated with Xenical. This novel
medicine acts only in the digestive sys-
tem, where it reduces absorption of
dietary fat by a third or more. In addi-
tion, further study findings have
confirmed that Xenical not only reduces
weight, but through weight loss also
improves various obesity-related risk
factors, including high cholesterol and
high blood pressure. In late 1999 a
campaign got under way in the United
States and Canada to educate patients
and inform doctors about obesity and its
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Sales advanced ahead of the industry
average in all major markets – the
United States, Europe, Japan and Latin
America. In the United States sales
outpaced the market thanks to new
product launches and continued strong
demand for Roche’s established
medicines. Gains were especially robust
in Europe, where divisional sales grew
almost twice as fast as the market. In
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treatment. Worldwide, there are approx-
imately 200 million people who suffer
from obesity and its complications.
Clinical development of Xenical for sup-
plementary approval in the treatment
of non-insulin-dependent (type II) dia-
betes is already at an advanced stage.

Clinical development of Bonviva for the
treatment and prophylaxis of post-
menopausal osteoporosis has already
produced very encouraging results.
This common bone disorder primarily
afflicts women from age 50 upwards.
Regulatory filings are planned for 2001.

Virology – targeting influenza, HIV and
hepatitis C. In November Tamiflu was
launched very successfully in the United
States and Switzerland after large-scale
clinical trials. The product has since won
regulatory approval in Canada and in
many countries in the southern hemi-
sphere. Additional marketing applica-
tions have been filed in the European
Union, and a filing is also being pre-
pared in Japan.

Supplemental applications for pediatric
use and for influenza prophylaxis are
planned for the second half of 2000.
This novel medicine prevents influenza
viruses from replicating, thus signifi-
cantly reducing the severity and dura-
tion of influenza symptoms and the
occurrence of secondary illnesses.
Influenza prevention and treatment is a
new, fast-growing segment of the pre-
scription drugs market. Every year a
total of more than 100 million people
catch influenza in the United States,
Europe and Japan.

Roche is one of the world’s leading sup-
pliers of medicines for HIV infection,

with a portfolio that includes Viracept,
Invirase/Fortovase and Cymevene/
Cytovene. Viracept’s long-term efficacy,
patient-friendly dosing schedule and
good safety profile offer significant gains
in quality of life for people with AIDS.
A recent clinical trial confirming that
Fortovase is highly effective in combat-
ing HIV should stimulate an additional
increase in demand. Clinical trials of
Cymeval/Valixa, an enhanced form of
Cymevene/Cytovene for the treatment of
viral eye infections, have been com-
pleted in HIV patients, and testing in
immunocompromised transplant
recipients is at an advanced stage.

In June an agreement was signed with
the biopharmaceutical company
Trimeris, Inc. (North Carolina) for the
development of a new class of anti-HIV
medicines which are already drawing
wide attention. T-20 and T-1249, which
are known as fusion inhibitors, are the
first drugs to prevent HIV from fusing
with host cells, and initial clinical testing
of these novel agents has produced very
promising results. The agreement gives
Roche exclusive marketing rights to the
drugs outside the United States.

In addition, Roche is actively involved in
programmes run by the WHO and other
international organisations to provide
treatment access to HIV patients in
developing countries. As part of its
BlueSky initiative, for example, Roche
supports the Joint United Nations Pro-
gramme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS) with
supplies of antiviral medicines and pro-
vides assistance with local training and
treatment projects.

Sales of Roferon-A, a medicine pre-
scribed for hepatitis B and C and vari-

ous types of cancer, declined slightly in
1999 as the product came under heavy
pressure from competitors, particularly
in the hepatitis C segment. In clinical
trials an improved molecular form of
interferon alfa-2a, which will be
marketed as Pegasys, has produced
significantly higher response rates
than Roferon-A in chronic hepatitis C.
Pegasys offers the additional advantage
that it only needs to be administered
once a week. Marketing applications are
planned for 2000.

Oncology – new mechanisms of action
spell progress against cancer. Roche is
also a leader in anticancer medicines.
Herceptin, the first monoclonal anti-
body for metastatic breast cancer, was
successfully launched in Canada,
Switzerland and other countries. Roche
holds exclusive marketing rights to Her-
ceptin outside the United States, where
the product is marketed by Genentech. A
marketing application for this novel
medicine was filed in the European
Union in 1999; Roche expects it to be
approved and launched there in the sec-
ond half of 2000. Herceptin is used to
treat patients with metastatic breast can-
cer whose tumours overexpress the
HER2 protein. Roche and Genentech are
jointly pursuing a global development
programme to investigate Herceptin’s
clinical efficacy and safety in other
HER2-overexpressing cancers.

Mabthera, which has already established
itself as standard therapy for low-grade
non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma, received reg-
ulatory approval in ten additional coun-
tries. In the United States, where the
product is co-marketed as Rituxan by
Genentech and IDEC Pharmaceuticals,
sales rose steeply to 280 million US
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dollars; outside the United States sales
nearly tripled compared with 1998.
Clinical trials are under way to obtain
supplementary approval for more
aggressive forms of lymphoma.

Xeloda, an oral chemotherapeutic
agent for patients with metastatic
breast cancer resistant to certain stan-
dard chemotherapies, has already been
approved in the United States, Switzer-
land, Canada and 20 other countries.
In September applications were filed
with the EU’s Committee for Proprie-
tary Medicinal Products and the FDA
for additional approval of Xeloda
as first-line medication in colorectal
cancer.

NeoRecormon, used to treat anemia in
dialysis and cancer patients, continued

to show strong growth in 1999, driven
by the introduction of new patient-
friendly formulations.

The European Commission approved
Roferon-A for adjuvant treatment
of patients at risk of relapse following
surgical removal of a malignant
melanoma. Pegasys, an improved formu-
lation of Roferon-A, is also being devel-
oped for use in oncology. Bondronat is
in late-phase development for the treat-
ment of bone metastases in patients
with breast cancer and other tumours.

Transplantation medicine – building
on a position of strength. In the space
of just a few years Roche has become
a major player in transplantation
medicine. CellCept once again posted a
substantial year-on-year gain in market
share, and today it is one of the leading
products worldwide for preventing acute
kidney transplant rejection. In October
Roche filed a global marketing applica-
tion for use of the product in liver
transplant patients. High sales growth
is expected to continue, helped by
expanded labelling for this new indica-
tion and for prevention of heart trans-
plant rejection. Zenapax, the first
recombinant humanised antibody for
the prevention of kidney transplant
rejection, received marketing clearance
from the European Commission in early
March 1999. Unlike other medicines,
which suppress the entire immune
system, Zenapax only blocks immune
cells that are activated by a kidney
transplant.

In the inflammatory diseases segment,
clinical trials of Trocade were discon-
tinued because of an unfavourable
risk-benefit profile.

Cardiovascular diseases – realign-
ment. In 1999 Roche recovered the
marketing rights to Dilatrend/Coreg
outside the United States and signed a
new co-marketing agreement with
SmithKline Beecham for the US mar-
ket. Dilatrend is the first beta-blocker
approved for hypertension, angina
pectoris and congestive heart failure,
three common cardiovascular condi-
tions which remain widely under-diag-
nosed and under-treated. Sales of this
product rose more than 50% in 1999.
Dilatrend is currently being developed

Thanks to innovative Roche medicines, doctors are now able

to treat obesity and influence its complications and treat

influenza, and they are also increasingly successful against

AIDS and certain cancers.
William M. Burns, head of Pharma International Operations
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for the treatment of patients following
myocardial infarction.

Development of the oral drug Xubix
and the injectable drug Lamstat was
halted after large-scale clinical trials
failed to show the anticipated degree
of efficacy.

In future, vascular research at Roche will
focus on venous thrombosis, peripheral
arterial occlusive disease and stroke.
Because of their importance in promot-
ing atherosclerotic vascular disease,
lipids will be a logical additional focus
of research efforts in this area.

Diseases of the nervous system –
major growth drivers. Dormicum/
Versed, a sedative used in anesthesia and
to treat insomnia, once again posted
double-digit sales growth. A new syrup
formulation available in the United
States accounted for part of this rise.
Versed will go off patent in the United
States in mid-2000 and is expected to
face generic competition by the second
half of the year. Lexotan, for anxiety and
tension states, and the antiparkinsonian
Madopar also made substantial con-
tributions to the division’s good sales
performance.

A joint project with Genentech to
develop the recombinant nerve growth
factor Neuleze for diabetic neuropathy, a
common and serious complication
of diabetes, was terminated after late-
phase clinical trials failed to show the
desired degree of efficacy. As expected,
final results from clinical trials with
Tempium showed significant efficacy in
Alzheimer’s disease. Roche has decided
not to pursue development of this
medicine any further, however, in view

of isolated reports of serious renal com-
plications.

Pointing the way with integrated
healthcare solutions. In 1999 Roche’s
Integrated Health Care Solutions group
made good progress on projects
designed to improve the quality of dis-
ease management. Packages combining
diagnostic and therapeutic products
are under development for a number of
disease areas. Ideally, these will one
day encompass everything from detect-
ing disease predispositions and targeted
screening to diagnosis, therapy and con-
tinuous patient monitoring. In the HIV
area, for example, 1999 saw the launch
of two large international programmes
that use viral genotyping to detect
drug-resistant viruses. Their purpose
is to guide the targeted use of effective
medicines.

In cardiac care, a novel test for diag-
nosing patients with heart failure and
monitoring their response to treatment
has produced encouraging results in
initial clinical trials. In other clinical
trials in this area, troponin T, a key
marker for the early detection of heart
damage, was measured in a large
number of patients with acute coronary
syndrome.

Two major osteoporosis programmes
involving the Elecsys analyser were
launched with the aim of further
enhancing response monitoring and
treatment outcomes in patients receiving
Bonviva. Work was also begun on vali-
dating a panel of tests designed to pre-
dict which cancer patients will respond
to treatment with Xeloda. Similarly, a
programme got under way which is
aimed at achieving further improve-

ments in the diagnosis of breast cancer
and the use of Herceptin. In hepatitis
care, efforts are focused mainly on sup-
plying a test to measure therapeutic
responses to Pegasys.

Additional new disease markers are
being explored in Alzheimer’s disease,
rheumatoid arthritis and osteoarthritis.

Genentech – strong sales growth.
Genentech’s sales were up sharply in
1999, advancing 50% to 1,523 million
Swiss francs. After exercising its option
to acquire 100% of Genentech’s stock in
mid-1999, Roche resold part of its stake
in two public offerings. At the end
of 1999 the Group held roughly a two-
thirds majority interest in the Califor-
nia-based biotechnology company, as it
did at the beginning of 1999. Following
very successful market launches, the
anticancer medicines Herceptin and
Rituxan/Mabthera have already estab-
lished themselves as two of Genen-
tech’s top-selling products, alongside
Pulmozyme (cystic fibrosis) and
Activase (thrombolysis).

Nutropin Depot received marketing
approval from the FDA in December.
This long-acting formulation of the
recombinant growth hormone Nutropin
needs to be administered only once or
twice a month to children with growth
disorders, eliminating the need for daily
injections. The FDA has also begun
reviewing a marketing application for
TNKase, a next-generation thrombolytic
agent intended for use in acute myocar-
dial infarction.

In a clinical trial in patients with allergic
rhinitis, monoclonal anti-IgE antibody
was shown to reduce the severity of
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symptoms and the need for medications
such as antihistamines. Initial results from
a trial of anti-IgE in patients with allergic
asthma were also very promising. A regu-
latory filing is planned for mid-2000.

Working with Aradigm Corporation
(California), Genentech has devel-

declined 3% for the year to 1,585 million
Swiss francs. While sales were down
in the Americas and Europe, they rose
strongly in the Asia–Pacific region, thanks
to the general economic recovery there.
The analgesic Aleve, the Bepanthen skin
care line and the multivitamin product
Supradyn performed especially well.

Roche Consumer Health is increasingly
focusing its marketing support on
key global brands. Sales of the well-posi-
tioned Supradyn, Bepanthen, Aleve,
Rennie, Berocca and Saridon brands
were up from the previous year.
Redoxon, which was especially hard
hit by the difficult market situation
in Latin America, was the only core
product to experience a fall-off in sales.

The analgesic Aleve was successfully
introduced in Argentina and Italy.
The year also saw the Rennie Duo line
extension get off to a strong start in
the United Kingdom and the successful
launch of the Cepocal brand in 
Australia.

In 1999 Roche Consumer Health
relocated its head office from Geneva to
Kaiseraugst, near Basel. The move will
facilitate closer collaboration within the
Pharmaceuticals Division, which is head-
quartered in Basel. In addition, organisa-
tional and management changes were
introduced at the regional level which will
have a positive impact on sales growth.

Pharmaceuticals research – strategic
focus on innovative treatment options.
In most industrialised countries rising
costs and strong pressures to curb
spending have combined to limit growth
in the healthcare sector. Against this
background Roche is working to further

Consumer self-medication

Sales by therapeutic area

Skin and hair care 16%

Analgesics 20%

Vitamins 46%

Gastrointestinal products 11%

Others 4%

Cold remedies 3%

Top-selling OTC brands in millions of CHF

Product Uses Sales in 1999

Supradyn Multivitamin product 170
Bepanthen Skin care 140
Aleve Analgesic 130
Rennie Antacid 120
Redoxon Vitamin C product 120
Berocca Multivitamin product 80
Saridon Analgesic 60

oped an improved delivery system for
Pulmozyme inhalation solution. Also,
Genentech has signed an agreement with
Immunex Corporation (Washington) to
develop and market Apo2L/TRAIL, a
novel agent shown in preclinical studies
to suppress tumour growth and cause
tumour remission through a process of
programmed cell death.

Consumer self-medication – focus on
key brands. Sales by Roche Consumer
Health (non-prescription medicines)
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A rich product pipeline
Product Indication Phase

TNK (tenecteplase)1) Acute myocardial infarction NDA6) filed
Monoclonal anti-IgE antibody2) Allergic asthma and allergic rhinitis NDA in preparation
Tamiflu (oseltamivir/GS 4104)3) Treatment of influenza in children/prevention of influenza A 

and B IV
Bonviva (ibandronate) Treatment and prevention of post-menopausal osteoporosis III
Cymeval (valganciclovir) Cytomegalovirus retinitis IV
Pegasys (pegylated interferon alfa-2a) Chronic hepatitis C IV
NeoRecormon (epoetin beta) Hematologic malignancies III
Xenical (orlistat) Long-term management of obesity, prevention of type II diabetes IV
Zenapax (daclizumab) Prevention of kidney transplant rejection IV
Dilatrend/Coreg (carvedilol) Chronic heart failure and angina pectoris IV
Dilatrend/Coreg (carvedilol) Myocardial infarction III
Herceptin (trastuzumab)4) Metastatic breast cancer IV
Mabthera/Rituxan (rituximab)4) Low-grade non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma IV
Mabthera/Rituxan (rituximab)4) Aggressive non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma III
CellCept (mycophenolate mofetil) Prevention and treatment of acute liver transplant rejection IV
Pulmozyme (dornase alfa, DNase)4) Early treatment of cystic fibrosis III
T-20/T-12495) HIV infection III
Bondronat (ibandronate) Treatment of bone metastases in breast cancer patients III
Anti-CD11a monoclonal antibody (hu1124)1) Psoriasis III
Activase (alteplase)1) Catheter clearance III

In 1999 the Group’s broad-based development
programmes focused particularly on regulatory
filings for the new medicines Xenical, Tamiflu and
Herceptin and for six supplementary indications.
In addition, there were numerous projects in
phases I and II.

1) Genentech product
2) Jointly developed by Genentech, Tanox and

Novartis
3) Jointly developed by Roche and Gilead Sciences
4) Jointly developed and marketed by Roche and

Genentech
5) Jointly developed by Roche and Trimeris
6) NDA = new drug application
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improve the clinical benefits and eco-
nomic value of medical interventions.
For its pharmaceuticals business alone,
Roche invested roughly 3 billion Swiss
francs in research and development in
1999, a 11% increase over the previous
year. This high level of investment under-
scores Roche’s commitment to discover-

preventive measures can be instituted in
time. Research on bacterial infections
and fungal and dermatological diseases
has been discontinued as a result of this
realignment.

Genetic basis of disease. Our under-
standing of the molecular and genetic
bases of human health and disease
is growing, as are our insights into
the diverse mechanisms of drug
metabolism. This new knowledge is
opening the way to an individualised
approach which increasingly tailors
healthcare delivery to a patient’s charac-
teristics and needs, and in which
prevention, screening and treatment are
coming together to form a seamless
continuum.

Given the widespread and increasingly
prominent role of human genetics and
genomics in healthcare research, Roche
has pledged to comply at all times with
applicable scientific, ethical, societal and
legal standards in these areas. A code of
conduct governing the Group’s approach
to generating and using genetic informa-
tion – the Roche Charter on Genetics – has
been drafted expressly for this purpose. A
Science and Ethics Advisory Group (SEAG)
has also been set up to guide and advise
Roche on scientific and ethical issues
relating to this complex area. The SEAG is
composed of independent experts in
genetics, bioethics, law and sociology and
includes lay members as well.

Last year Roche joined with other phar-
maceutical companies and respected
research institutes to form a consortium
that will collaborate on creating a public
database of human genetic markers.
This two-year initiative will systemati-
cally identify and map sequence varia-

ing and developing even more effective
ways to prevent and treat disease.

In future, Roche will concentrate its
research resources – and its develop-
ment and marketing efforts – on thera-
peutic areas where there is a significant
need for new healthcare solutions and
where the growth potential is corre-
spondingly high. Roche’s aim here is not
just to discover new medicines, but also
to identify risk factors, such as genetic
predispositions to disease, so that

Pharmaceutical research centres

Basel, Switzerland Metabolic disorders
Central nervous system
Vascular diseases

Kamakura, Japan Cancer
Nutley (New Jersey), USA Metabolic disorders

Cancer
Vascular diseases

Palo Alto (California), USA Central nervous system
Inflammation/bone diseases
Genitourinary diseases

Penzberg, Germany Cancer
Welwyn Garden City, UK Virology
Basel Institute for Immunology, Switzerland Basic research in immunology

Our aim is to create successful new medicines and shape future

therapies through outstanding people and science.
Jonathan Knowles, head of Global Pharmaceutical Research
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tions that occur frequently in human
DNA. The database will enable medical
researchers to pinpoint genetic differ-
ences which predispose some persons
rather than others to particular diseases
and which account for variations in the
way different patients respond to
medicines.

Roche’s alliance with deCode Genetics
(Iceland) to identify the genes responsi-
ble for a number of common diseases
has resulted in the discovery of a
small chromosomal region containing a
gene that causes or contributes to
osteoarthritis. Guided by this discovery,
research efforts are focusing on identify-
ing the relevant gene and characterising
the genetic pathway involved in the
pathogenesis of this joint disease.

Investing in a cost-effective supply
chain. The integration of former
Boehringer Mannheim production facil-
ities was successfully completed in 1999.
This included the sale of the pharma-
ceutical production sites in Terrassa
(Spain) and Bladel (Netherlands); pro-
duction in Vienna (Austria) was dis-
continued.

Investments in property, plant and
equipment totalled 963 million Swiss
francs, a rise of 105 million Swiss francs
over 1998. Capital expenditures to
expand capacity at the pharmaceutical
production sites in Switzerland, the
United States, Mexico, Brazil and
Argentina accounted for a part of the
increase, as did major construction pro-
jects at the research centres in Basel and
Penzberg (Germany).

On track for further growth. The Phar-
maceuticals Division expects another

year of good sales growth in 2000. Novel
medicines like the anti-obesity drug
Xenical and Tamiflu, for influenza, have
significantly reinforced Roche’s position
in the primary care market. And with a
pipeline of innovative new products in
development, Roche is also well equipped
to maintain its lead in the hospital sec-
tor. Marketing applications for the inter-
feron product Pegasys, for hepatitis C,
are planned for the second half of 2000.
In Europe and Japan Roche also intends
to introduce Tamiflu and the anticancer
medicine Herceptin. In the United
States, which is still the most important
market for pharmaceuticals, the division
is selectively expanding its marketing
organisation. In its pursuit of a steadily
increasing share of the market, Roche
is concentrating its resources on thera-
peutic areas where there are pressing
medical needs to be addressed, and
where the Group can draw on a wealth
of know-how. A deeper understanding
of the molecular causes of disease is
opening up promising new approaches
to diagnosis and treatment. This will
make medical treatment more cost-
effective and thus help ease the burden
on healthcare systems.



Daniela L. of Hannover (Germany) takes
her Accutrend Sensor glucose metre with
her wherever she goes. As a diabetic, she
appreciates the security and convenience
of being able to check her blood glucose
in seconds. Accutrend Sensor is helping
her to lead a more active, independent life.

Employees at Roche Diagnostics have set themselves the goal of developing a number of
user-friendly patient self-monitoring systems. These products will significantly improve
patients’ quality of life by allowing them greater independence and offering the advantages
of convenient, virtually painless testing.
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Diagnostics
In 1999 Roche further extended its global leadership in the field of in-vitro diagnostics.

Against a background of moderate overall market growth the Diagnostics Division

posted double-digit sales gains. The marked increase in operating profit margin over the

1998 figure was due mainly to above-average sales growth in the patient care and

molecular diagnostics segments, integration benefits and vigorous cost management.

Roche Laboratory Systems also further strengthened its leadership in the laboratory

diagnostics market thanks to a new generation of fully automated, integrated analysers

that provide fast, accurate, cost-effective diagnoses.

Diagnostics Division in brief

in millions of CHF change
1999 98/99

Sales 5,282 +14%
– Laboratory Systems 2,212 +9%
– Patient Care 2,042 +16%
– Molecular Systems 596 +30%
– Molecular Biochemicals 432 +15%

EBITDA 1,430 +18%
Operating profit 771 +29%
R&D expenditures 516 +10%
Employees 14,456 +4%



28 Diagnostics

the leading developer of integrated
analysers for clinical testing in hospi-
tals and high-volume service laborato-
ries, posted a 7% sales increase in local
currencies in a fiercely competitive
market. Roche responded to demand
for high-throughput, fully automated,
computerised laboratory systems
with successful launches of large inte-
grated modular systems for the clinical
laboratory.

The Roche/Hitachi and Cobas Integra
product lines were well received in
the highly competitive, price-sensitive
clinical chemistry market. While the
Cobas Integra 400 improves processing
in medium-throughput laboratories,
Modular Analytics sets new standards
for efficiency and productivity by
offering individually tailored, modular
solutions for high-workload labs. The
market response to the introduction of
additional systems for preanalytical
sample handling was also positive.

In the immunochemistry market the
Elecsys analysers maintained their
double-digit growth rate. Healthy two-
digit sales gains were also recorded
for the coagulation and automated
urinalysis product lines.

Since February 1999 the Diagnostics
Division has marketed the hematology
product line of Japan-based Sysmex in
the United States. Under a cooperation
agreement with Hitachi, Roche will
now co-market Hitachi’s clinical chem-
istry analysers in Japan.

In cooperation with its partners Hitachi,
Stago and Sysmex, the research activities
of Roche Laboratory Systems, the largest
of the division’s business units, are

Market leadership in promising
segments. Measures to control health-
care costs further increased pressure
on prices in the diagnostics market as a
whole. In spite of this, Roche posted
sales gains of 14% to 5.3 billion Swiss
francs and increased its operating
profit by 29% to 771 million francs.
EBITDA advanced 1 percentage
point to 27% of sales. Roche’s leader-
ship in the dynamic patient care
and molecular systems (PCR) segments
and the diversity of its product range
contributed to this positive trend.

Laboratory Systems – market share
increased. Roche Laboratory Systems,

With its broad range of products, technological know-how,

worldwide presence and market leadership the Diagnostics

Division is a global supplier of rapid, accurate and cost-effective

diagnostic tools that aid disease prevention and treatment.
Otto A. Meile, head of the Diagnostics Division (until 31 March 2000)
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focused on the development of cost-
effective, high-performance laboratory
systems offering fully automated, con-
solidated preanalytics and analytics.

Patient Care – steadily improving
market position. Advances in micro-
electronics and sensor technology
mean that an increasing number of
diagnostic tests can be carried out
at the point of care – in the hospital,
doctor’s office or patient’s home. This
trend will be reinforced as the benefits
of having diagnostic information
available immediately and of continu-
ous monitoring of key parameters –
in diabetes, for example – gain wider
recognition.

Sales by the Roche Patient Care busi-
ness unit, which provides some of the
world’s leading products for people
with diabetes and innovative point-of-
care diagnostic tests, were up 14% in
local currencies. Market share gains in
the United States and major European
markets were the main factors sustain-
ing this strong growth against a back-
ground of stiff competition.

Roche Patient Care further strength-
ened its position in the diabetes market
with the extremely successful world-
wide introduction of Accu-Chek
Advantage/Comfort Strip, an easy-to-
use self-testing system for blood
glucose monitoring. A new generation
of blood glucose metres from the
Glucotrend and Accu-Chek Advantage
product lines and Roche’s high
standard of customer support are
major drivers of healthy sales growth.

In the point-of-care segment the OnTrak
range of rapid drugs-of-abuse tests was

expanded and the CoaguChek line of
coagulation tests developed further.
Once again, the Reflotron analyser and
Combur urine test strips, for routine
testing in the hospital or doctor’s office,
were among the major revenue earners.

Roche Patient Care’s diabetes research
and development activites are focused
on providing products that are as user-
friendly as possible, such as systems
that enable virtually painless blood
draws or highly integrated products
and systems for continuous blood
glucose monitoring. Other important
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development projects involve new
coagulation tests and user-friendly
diagnostic systems for use in emer-
gency and intensive care medicine.

Molecular Systems – continuing
strong demand. Sales by Roche Molec-
ular Systems, the market leader in
PCR-based diagnostic testing, rose by
a substantial 26% in local currencies,
driven mainly by steadily rising
demand for tests for diagnosing and
monitoring infectious diseases such
as AIDS and hepatitis. Qualitative and
quantitative PCR tests enabling early
detection of the viruses involved have
brought about a breakthrough in the
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management of these conditions.
With the PCR technique, pioneered
and brought to the market by Roche,
minute quantities of genetic material
are amplified to obtain concentra-
tions that permit direct detection of
various pathogens. This rapid, highly
sensitive technique enables treatment
optimisation and thus a reduction of
treatment costs.

tests for additional infectious diseases,
cancer and diseases with genetic
causes. Advances in our understanding
of diseases in which genes play a role,
such as cancer, are opening the way
to promising new applications for
molecular diagnostics. The Diagnostics
Division is working very closely with
Roche’s pharmaceutical research units
in this area – for example, in the
development of rapid genetic analysis

In March Roche received marketing
approval from the US Food and Drug
Administration (FDA) for the Am-
plicor HIV-1 Monitor UltraSensi-
tive test, which allows even better
monitoring of HIV and AIDS therapies
by showing alterations in a patient’s
response to drug treatment before they
are clinically apparent. In April the
FDA approved commencement of
large-scale clinical trials of a new hep-
atitis C test for screening donor blood.
Results so far have been very encourag-
ing; a number of contaminated blood
samples that had previously been
incorrectly passed as virus-free by
conventional screening tests have
already been identified.

The unit’s research activities are con-
centrated on further simplifying and
automating PCR applications. In addi-
tion, projects are under way to develop

applications based on GeneChip
technology (in collaboration with
Affymetrix).

Molecular Biochemicals – active in
growth markets. Sales by Roche
Molecular Biochemicals, which manu-
factures reagents and systems for
industrial and biomedical research
applications, were up 11% in local
currency terms. Sales to research
customers again showed double-digit
growth, driven mainly by the Light-
Cycler technology platform, which
reduces DNA amplification and analy-
sis times with the PCR technique to
just a few minutes. LightCycler, which
was originally introduced in 1998, was
successfully launched in additional
markets in 1999. MagNA Pure LC, an
advanced instrument for automated
sample preparation that complements
the LightCycler product line, was

Sales by business unit

Patient Care 39%

Molecular Systems 11%

Laboratory Systems 42%

Molecular Biochemicals 8%

Sales by region

North America 38%

Asia–Pacific 10%

Europe and Africa 49%

South America 3%
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The Diagnostics Division – committed to progress in all market segments

Business units and Key research, Sales in 1999
market segments development and production activities Some important products in millions of CHF

Laboratory Systems Integrated analytical systems for clinical laboratories; Cobas Integra, 2,212 
Clinical chemistry complete solutions for immunodiagnostics work areas; Roche/Hitachi,
Immunochemistry laboratory network solutions; reagents for clinical Cobas Core, Elecsys,
Coagulation chemistry and immunodiagnostics Stago, Sysmex,
Hematology Miditron, Supertron
Automated
urinalysis

Patient Care Diagnostic products for point-of-care testing  Accu-Chek Advantage, 2,042
Diabetes and patient self-monitoring, such as blood Accutrend Sensor, 
monitoring glucose metres with accompanying data management Glucotrend, Softclix 
Point of care software; coagulation monitoring systems, urine test lancing systems, 

strips and rapid drugs-of-abuse screening tests Camit software,
Reflotron, Combur-Test, 
CoaguChek, OnTrak, 
Frontline

Molecular Systems PCR-based test kits and automated analysers for Amplicor tests, 596
detecting infectious diseases, cancer and hereditary Cobas Amplicor,
disorders and for treatment monitoring AmpliScreen

Molecular Reagents and systems for gene analysis, used in Reagents for 432
Biochemicals biomedical research to investigate the causes of molecular

or predisposition to disease; specialty biochemicals and cell biology, 
for industry LightCycler, 

Lumi-Imager, 
MagNa Pure LC

The Diagnostics Division’s four business units
provide products that cover every stage of health-
care delivery, from targeted screening for risk
factors to diagnosis and monitoring treatment
response. Roche products such as powerful, highly
automated analytical systems are used in large
clinical laboratories, while its handy blood glucose
metres enable convenient self-monitoring by peo-
ple with diabetes. Demand in all segments rose
again in 1999.
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launched at the end of 1999. In con-
trast to the research segment, demand
from industrial customers declined
overall after two consecutive years of
very strong growth. The exception here
was raw materials for molecular diag-
nostics, which experienced continuing
strong demand.

Our systematic focus on the needs of
customers in science and industry who
expect the best continues to be an
important factor for growth in this
business segment. An example is
Roche’s work in the field of genetic
analysis to further develop the success-
ful LightCycler product line and accom-
panying range of test kits. A system
for cell-free production of proteins

that permits fast, low-cost synthesis of
gene products will make a significant
contribution to work on functional
genomics.

Outlook – good prospects for techno-
logical and market leadership. In the
laboratory diagnostics market the
newly launched Cobas Integra 400 and
Modular Analytics analysers and the
forthcoming launch of the Cobas Inte-
gra 800 clinical chemistry analyser,
scheduled for the end of 2000, are the
latest examples of Roche’s innovative
implementation of new approaches for
laboratory automation and integration

with substantial sales potential. In
addition, the Elecsys Modular E-170,
a new high-throughput system for
immunochemistry, is slated for launch
towards the end of 2000. In combi-
nation with the Modular components
already on the market, the E-170 will
make Roche the first company
with a mainframe system that offers
preanalytics, clinical chemistry and
immunodiagnostics on a single, flexibly
configurable platform.

We anticipate that there will be con-
tinued dynamic growth in the patient
care market, particularly in the diabetes
care segment. Double-digit growth
in the diabetes monitoring market is
expected to continue as a result of
rapidly increasing patient numbers
and the recognised benefits of self-
monitoring in preventing late com-
plications of the disease.

Molecular diagnostics represents the
fastest growing market segment, with
double-digit gains fuelled by rapid
technological advances and new appli-
cations. Discoveries from the Human
Genome Project about the role of genes
in diseases such as cancer will spawn
new uses for gene-based diagnostics.
We anticipate that further automation
of the systems and the combination
of PCR with Affymetrix’s GeneChip
technology will generate additional
substantial growth.

Thanks to its broad product portfolio,
exceptional technological know-how
and ability to generate a steady stream
of innovative products, the Diagnostics
Division is well equipped to continue
its successful track record in a highly
competitive market environment. Col-

We intend to further consolidate Roche’s leadership in the

global diagnostics market by providing innovative solutions

for laboratory diagnostics, patient self-monitoring and bio-

medical research and take full advantage of synergies with our

pharmaceuticals business.
Heino von Prondzynski, head of the Diagnostics Division (since 1 April 2000)
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laboration with the Pharmaceuticals
Division in Integrated Health Care
Solutions (see page 21) is focusing
on the discovery and development of
new tests for treatment monitoring.
This too can be expected to have a
positive impact on sales and to help
further consolidate our market leader-
ship.



One of the most modern salmon farms
in the world is located north of Oslo
(Norway). The feeds used at the farm
have been fortified with vitamins and
astaxanthin from Roche to ensure that,
when the salmon reach the table, they
please the most discriminating palate.

With the help of state-of-the-art know-how in process research and technology, Roche is able
to offer customers products that are tailored specifically to their needs.
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Vitamins and Fine Chemicals
For the Vitamins and Fine Chemicals Division 1999 was largely dominated by the reper-

cussions of the vitamins antitrust case. A new divisional management team has initiated

the steps necessary to maintain Roche’s global market and cost leadership in the long

term – a position built on know-how and superior technology. Great emphasis has been

placed on retaining the confidence of our customers and the general public.

Prices on world markets continued to fall, affecting sales revenues and profit margins.

For some vitamins this trend began as long as seven years ago as a result of heavy

competition from Chinese suppliers. Business showed a significant upturn in the second

half of 1999. Sales volumes reached record highs, resulting in market share gains for

a number of products. The division is focusing even more sharply now on achieving

profitable long-term growth driven by innovative manufacturing processes, new product

applications and additional cuts in operating costs. Substantial investments in new

production facilities will also help strengthen divisional competitiveness.

Vitamins and Fine Chemicals Division in brief

in millions of CHF change
1999 98/99

Sales 3,649 +1%
– Vitamins 1,851 –5%
– Carotenoids 692 +5%
– Other fine chemicals 1,106 +8%

EBITDA1) 799 –8%
Operating profit1) 584 –13%
R&D expenditures 130 0%
Employees 7,551 +2%

1) 1999 EBITDA and operating profit are shown on an adjusted basis.
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of functional foods (foods with medic-
inal or health-promoting properties) is
creating new opportunities to market
food ingredients offering health bene-
fits. Buoyed by this trend, the volume
of demand for vitamins and other
nature-identical ingredients rose in the
food and cosmetics industries in 1999.

Excess manufacturing capacity and an
unbroken trend towards industrial
consolidation on the customer side
were major factors shaping the market-
place in 1999. Vitamin prices fell fur-
ther, particularly for vitamins B2 and C,
biotin and the fat-soluble vitamins A
and E. Despite declining prices, the
division posted good volume gains for
vitamins A, B1, C and biotin and
retained its position as the market
leader for vitamins and carotenoids. It
increased its share of the markets for
citric acid, polyunsaturated fatty acids
(PUFAs) and UV sunscreens and
successfully defended its share of the
medicinal feed additives segment.

Quality and service are crucial in the
vitamins business. In launching new
products, strengthening its presence in
China through joint ventures and
expanding its network of premix plants,
the division is doing more than just
developing new markets. At the same
time it is reinforcing its position as the
technology leader for product applica-
tions tailored to customers’ needs.

Sales by region – Asia partly offsets
slower growth in Europe and the
United States. In Europe sales to the
food, pharmaceuticals and cosmetics
industries were slower overall, though
certain products, including biotin,
citric acid, PUFAs and sunscreens,

The marketplace – competitiveness is
more than a question of price. Thanks
to an upturn in the second half of the
year, sales by the Vitamins and Fine
Chemicals Division rose slightly in
1999, advancing 1% to 3.6 billion Swiss
francs. Expressed in local currencies,
sales were down 2%. EBITDA fell to
799 million Swiss francs, equivalent to
22% of sales. Margin pressures result-
ing from a decline in prices were partly
offset by productivity and volume
gains.

With health and sound nutrition
becoming increasingly important to
consumers, new market opportunities
are opening up for health and wellness
products containing vitamins. In addi-
tion, growing consumer appreciation

We want to stay the market leader for vitamins in terms of cost,

customer service and the development of new products.
Markus Altwegg, head of the Vitamins and Fine Chemicals Division
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showed gains. While carotenoid prices
remained stable, the prices of key vita-
mins fell. Public apprehensions about
the safety of certain foods, following
reports of BSE and dioxin-contami-
nated animal feeds, acted as an addi-
tional brake on demand in the animal
feeds segment. Index prices for meat
and poultry hit record lows, contribut-
ing to the downward pressure on vita-
min prices in the feed industry.

relating to the elections in Argentina,
Mexico, Chile and other countries –
all factors which had a dampening
effect on business in the region. After
getting off to a slow start in early 1999,
carotenoid sales to Chile’s aquaculture
industry recovered and finished the
year well. In Central America the
division supported government pro-
grammes to fortify staple foods with
vitamins.

In North America the division main-
tained its leading position in the human
and animal nutrition markets, though
steady price erosion resulted in a decline
in the value of sales. Two new caroten-
oids, lutein and lycopene, were launched
in the dietary supplement market in the
second half of the year. Both products
are antioxidants, with lutein positioned
for eye health, and lycopene for prostate
health. Sales of medicinal feed additives
were satisfactory. Vitamin E and pre-
mixes for animal feeds suffered signifi-
cant price erosion as a result of mount-
ing competition.

In Latin America the division recorded
volume increases, particularly on sales
of premixes for feeds and food prod-
ucts, and thus strengthened its market
position. The gains came despite
currency devaluations in Brazil and
Ecuador and political uncertainties

Sales climbed more than 20% in Asia.
Volume gains exceeded market growth,
resulting in market share gains for
the division. In China the division
increased its share of the market for
most products, particularly vitamin
concentrates and premixes, despite
a competitive environment, stagnating
feed production and lower-than-
expected growth in the feed and phar-
maceutical sectors.

In the feed segment demand for vita-
mins and carotenoids fuelled a healthy
rise in sales volumes, though competi-
tive pressures caused prices to decline.
Sales of astaxanthin, which is used
in aquaculture, were hurt by a slight
downturn in the demand for salmon
and other salmonid species. While sales
of canthaxanthin met modest expec-
tations, demand for biotin continued
to grow.

Sales by business segmentSales by region

Cosmetics 6%

Pharmaceuticals 19%

North and South America 44%

Asia–Pacific 17%

Europe and Africa 39%

Food industry 19%

Animal feed 56%
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In the food segment sales of beta-
carotene and citric acid to the soft-
drink industry were once again up for
the year. A growing awareness of the
health benefits of PUFAs led major
food manufacturers to fortify their
products with Roche’s line of Ropufa
oils and powders. Several European
and South American customers, for
example, began adding Ropufa n-3
food oil to UHT milk. In the United
States two important new carotenoids,
lycopene and lutein, were launched as
ingredients for dietary supplements.

Competition among suppliers of vita-
min E to the pharmaceuticals industry
was particularly intense. Nevertheless,
sales of this vitamin remained strong,

thanks to new evidence of its positive
role in preventing heart disease, stroke
and lung cancer in smokers.

In the cosmetics segment Roche’s
Parsol sunscreen agents enjoyed another
year of substantial sales growth. The
rise in sales was due mainly to their
increased use in sunscreen products
with a high sun protection factor and
to the wider use of sunscreen agents in
everyday cosmetics. There was also a
noticeable rise in the use of vitamin A
in anti-ageing creams.

Research and development – focus
on manufacturing costs and new
products. Vitamins research focuses on
the development of cost-efficient new

manufacturing processes and new
products for human nutrition and ani-
mal health. The new production facili-
ties for biotin and vitamin B2 in Gren-
zach (Germany), which will start oper-
ating in the course of this year, will
help cut manufacturing costs further.
Good progress is being made on devel-
oping fermentation processes for
carotenoid production; here too
the aim is to employ processes that
combine high product quality and
cost-efficiency with environmental
compatibility.

Product development for human health
applications included work on new for-
mulations of the carotenoids lycopene
and lutein for use in pharmaceuticals.

In the feed additives segment projects
got under way to develop new, non-
antibiotic approaches to fighting coc-
cidiosis in poultry. Further progress
was made in developing new enzymes
for use in the feed industry. One exam-
ple is a newly formulated phytase sup-
plement – jointly developed with Novo
Nordisk – which was successfully
launched during the year. Phytase is
a feed enzyme that increases the bio-
availability of phosphorus in animal
feeds.

Development products offering health
benefits for the elderly are also ex-
pected to be ready for commercialisa-
tion soon; launches are planned for
2000.

Investment and production – expand-
ing the division’s global production
capacity. Investments in property,
plant and equipment totalled 450 mil-
lion Swiss francs, compared with

Growing health awareness among consumers is creating new

market opportunities for food and wellness products fortified

with vitamins and carotenoids.
Pierre-Etienne Weber, head of Global Marketing, Vitamins and Fine Chemicals Division



feed additives business as the division
continued to streamline its product
portfolio.

Over the past two years the division
has invested more than half a billion
Swiss francs in its production facilities
in order to expand capacity for key
products and further increase produc-
tivity and competitiveness. Thanks to
its cost leadership and comprehensive
know-how in developing tailor-made
product applications, the Vitamins and
Fine Chemicals Division is ideally
equipped to rise to the market chal-
lenges ahead and further consolidate
its leading position.

Task Force SIGHT AND LIFE
SIGHT AND LIFE is a humanitarian programme established by Roche in 1986 to stem
the tide of vitamin A deficiency among young children in developing countries. The Task
Force provides free vitamin A for nutrition intervention programmes, shares technical
know-how, funds research projects and distributes specialist literature and other infor-
mation materials. It also publishes the SIGHT AND LIFE Newsletter, an internationally
respected forum for the exchange of ideas and information among researchers, doctors
and relief organisations active in the fight against vitamin A deficiency. In 1999 SIGHT
AND LIFE was actively involved in over 200 projects – large and small – in Africa, Asia
and Latin America. This included the distribution of a total of 4.5 million free vitamin A
capsules. Roche has donated more than 35 million Swiss francs for these activities since
the Task Force was founded, and it intends to step up its support in the years ahead.
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442 million Swiss francs in 1998. The
expanded vitamin C plant in Belvidere
(New Jersey) started production. In
Dalry (Scotland) a major capital
expenditure project to expand capacity
and improve manufacturing processes
for vitamin C is moving ahead well.
Major investments were also made in
constructing new production facilities
for biotin and vitamin B2 in Grenzach
(Germany). In Switzerland the
carotenoid and powdered-vitamin
facilities in Sisseln were completed, and
work to expand capacity for vitamin E
intermediates at Teranol AG in Lalden
made good progress. A new vitamin A
plant – Roche’s largest production
facility for this vitamin outside
Switzerland – was opened in China.
Finally, Roche Zhongya (Wuxi) Citric
Acid Ltd in Shanghai began producing
citric acid to US Pharmacopeia stand-
ards for food and pharmaceutical
ingredients; this joint venture will help
strengthen the division’s global com-
petitiveness. Roche also manufactures
vitamins B6 and E in China.

Outlook – division well-placed to
capitalise on market opportunities.
Despite intense competitive and pric-
ing pressures, the vitamins business
offers Roche significant market oppor-
tunities. Demand for vitamins,
carotenoids, citric acid, enzymes and
sunscreen products will continue to
rise, fuelling sustained market growth.
The strongest increases will occur in
the dietary supplement, functional
food and aquaculture segments. Apart
from the growing health consciousness
of consumers, an increasing presence
in Asia’s prospering markets is
expected to stimulate growth. A deci-
sion was made to divest the medicinal



Brunch at a Viennese café.
Flavour ingredients are often added
to beverages, yoghurt and breakfast
cereals to enhance their taste.

When Givaudan sets out to develop a new high-impact flavour
ingredient for the food industry, it combines technological finesse
with lessons learned from nature.
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Fragrances and Flavours
In 1999 the Fragrances and Flavours Division (Givaudan Roure) consolidated its

global market lead despite tougher competition in both its businesses. Uncompromising

attention to the product and service needs of key global clients and a tighter focus in

production and product development had a positive impact on efficiency and profitability.

In India, China and Japan the division expanded its production capacity and marketing

and sales support organisations as it moved to further strengthen its market presence

in the Asia–Pacific region. Major capital investment projects in the United States will be

completed on schedule in early 2000.

Roche intends to spin off the Fragrances and Flavours Division at the beginning of June

in order to concentrate on its core healthcare business. The division will be floated

on the stock exchange as an independent company and will operate under the Givaudan

name.

Fragrances and Flavours Division in brief

in millions of CHF change
1999 98/99

Sales 2,149 +5%
– Fragrances 1,016 +3%
– Flavours 1,133 +7%

EBITDA 524 +34%
Operating profit 397 +51%
R&D expenditures 50 +72%
Employees 4,907 +2%
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by the improved economic climate in
major markets, but competition among
suppliers remained intense. One reason
for this was the continued trend to-
wards consolidation of the customer
base, with corresponding pressure on
prices. Another factor accounting for
the special dynamics of the fragrance
and flavour markets is the ever shorter
life cycles of consumer products con-
taining fragrance or flavour ingredi-
ents. Because product turnover in their
businesses is high, industrial clients
increasingly rely on global players like
Givaudan as preferred suppliers of fra-
grances and flavours. This gives them
access to a comprehensive range of
services and a ready source of fresh
product ideas with which to respond
to new consumer trends.

Fragrances – a good performance.
Fragrances got off to a slow start in
1999, but this was more than offset in
the second half of the year, when all
three business units (fine fragrances,
consumer products and fragrance
ingredients) reported an upturn in
sales. Sales were up 1% from 1998
in local currency terms.

Apart from the fine fragrances seg-
ment, where business has traditionally
been good, the division capitalised on a
growing consumer preference for
scented bath, personal care and house-
hold products. The emergence of spe-
ciality retail chains with high product
turnovers in the United States was
another factor shaping the market in
1999. Sales to manufacturers of con-
sumer goods reached a record high in
the Asia–Pacific region, but were stag-
nant in the United States and Europe as
a result of consolidation of the cus-

Specialty markets with growth
potential. The Fragrances and Flavours
Division recorded sales revenues of
2.1 billion Swiss francs, a 5% gain over
the previous year, after seeing sales
rise steadily during the second half of
1999. EBITDA rose sharply, to 524 mil-
lion Swiss francs, thanks to new cost
efficiencies in purchasing, production
and administration. EBITDA as a per-
centage of sales was up 5 percentage
points to 24%.

With roughly a 20% share of the mar-
ket, Givaudan is the world’s leading
supplier of creative fragrance and
flavour products to the consumer goods
industries. Demand gained momentum
in the second half of 1999, stimulated

An independent Givaudan group will be well equipped to

extend its market lead in the global fragrances and flavours

industries against a tough field of competitors.
Jürg Witmer, head of the Fragrances and Flavours Division
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tomer base. To make the division even
more responsive to key customers’
needs in specific markets, creative sup-
port and application centres were
established in four regional hubs
(Paris, New York, Singapore and São
Paulo). These centres will be expanded.

Sales of fragrance ingredients rose
steadily during the year. Growth was
due primarily to a strong performance
by the division’s speciality aroma chem-
icals and to a competitive pricing policy.

Flavours – upswing continues.
Fragrance sales advanced 3% in local
currencies. Steady growth was seen par-
ticularly in the beverage and savoury
segments. Successful integration of the
US flavours manufacturer Tastemaker,
acquired in 1997, led to a restructuring
of the marketing organisation, which
benefited from Tastemaker’s unique
capabilities in flavour technology.

In the Americas sales remained at year-
earlier levels owing to the recession in
Brazil and slower growth in the US
food industry. Sales gains in Europe
were fuelled primarily by strong
demand in the beverage and savoury
segments. In the Asia–Pacific mar-
kets sales rose sharply as the regional
economic crisis eased.

Research and development. The new
divisional research and development
organisation – created in 1998 by split-
ting R&D tasks between dedicated fra-
grance and flavour groups – became
fully operational.

Further advances were made in devel-
oping controlled delivery systems for
fragrances. These systems offer im-

proved protection of fragrances during
storage and release them when needed
– advantages with high added value for
customers. A dedicated pilot plant has
been started up to supply customers
with samples. Givaudan’s proprietary
ScentTrek technology was used to cap-
ture previously undiscovered scents for
new products on expeditions to jungle
areas in West Africa and China. Also
along on the expedition to Africa was a

new technology called TasteTrek. This
internationally acclaimed innovation –
the latest to come out of flavour
research at Givaudan Roure – allows
researchers to discover and study new
flavour molecules outside the labo-
ratory, in the field. It will help the divi-
sion achieve its goal of discovering
four new molecules each year.

Flavours research and development
moved into the recently completed,
state-of-the-art development centre in
Cincinnati (Ohio). This group spe-
cialises in flavour delivery systems,
flavour creation tools, natural and
high-impact flavour ingredients and
sensory research.

Outlook – well equipped to go it
alone. Givaudan has everything it takes
to compete successfully as an indepen-
dent company. The flavours business

Sales by region

North America 35%

Latin America 11%

Europe and Africa 36%

Asia–Pacific 18%

has been strengthened substantially by
the Tastemaker acquisition, and the
division has steadily enhanced its com-
petitiveness through a number of
organisational improvements. These
have included measures to raise pro-
duction efficiency, optimise purchasing
and streamline administration. The
introduction of global and regional
customer teams and a focus on key
accounts has put the division in closer

touch with its markets. The creation of
separate, dedicated R&D groups for
fragrances and flavours has paved the
way for developing innovative products
perfectly in tune with market needs.
Finally, by investing heavily in Asia’s
emerging markets, the division is
strengthening its presence in the region
with the greatest growth potential.
These investments in the future have
given Givaudan a solid base for main-
taining its lead in the fragrances and
flavours industry in the long term and
for achieving further profit growth.
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schools. In the Pharmaceuticals Divi-
sion, for example, over 300 senior
managers and other personnel with key
skills attended a project-based change
programme. This programme, which
was a first at Roche, relied on a solu-
tion-centred action learning model and
led to a significant improvement of
current activities by helping staff
do a faster, better job of implementing
various projects such as new product
launches, electronic business strategy
or supply chain management.

1999 also saw further progress in the
area of performance-based pay systems
at Roche. All divisions have imple-
mented specially tailored, performance-
based remuneration systems either for
their management teams or, as in the
Fragrances and Flavours Division, for a
broad range of employees. These plans
focus heavily on achieving alignment
between individual job objectives and
overall business goals of the division,
country and global functions.

In autumn 1999 a major effort was
launched across all divisions to revi-
talise commitment to and awareness of
Roche’s corporate principles and val-
ues. Between September and December
throughout the Group around 7,500
employees with authority to sign
attended a half-day seminar led by
their senior line managers. Part I was
devoted to discussing the significance
of the corporate principles in relation
to daily business activities.

The second part of the seminar was
dedicated to the fundamentals of compe-
tition law with case studies. A feedback
session at the end of the meeting resulted
in hundreds of messages to the CEO or
divisional management teams.

We want to offer a high-performance culture for highly moti-

vated people, and I regard the development of leadership talent

at all levels as a particularly important element in that.
Daniel Villiger, head of Corporate Services

Headcount by division at the end of the year
1999 1998 change % change

Pharmaceuticals 40,299 40,048 +251 +1
Diagnostics 14,456 13,950 +506 +4
Vitamins and Fine Chemicals 7,551 7,432 +119 +2
Fragrances and Flavours 4,907 4,819 +88 +2
Others 482 458 +24 +5
Roche Group 67,695 66,707 +988 +1

Headcount by region at the end of the year
Europe 33,861 33,721 +140 0
– Switzerland 9,725 9,565 +160 +2
North America 18,449 17,465 +984 +6
Latin America 6,398 6,485 –87 –1
Asia 7,124 6,849 +275 +4
Africa, Australia, Oceania 1,863 2,187 –324 –15
Total 67,695 66,707 +988 +1

At the end of 1999 the Roche Group
employed 67,695 people worldwide, an
increase of 988 over the year-earlier
figure. The cost of wages, salaries and
employee benefits rose 2% to 6,931
million Swiss francs. The slightly
increased headcount was a conse-
quence of the good results posted by
the Pharmaceuticals, Diagnostics and
Fragrances and Flavours Divisions.
Europe remains the region with the
largest number of employees.

Creating an environment that encour-
ages employees’ personal and profes-
sional development has high priority at
Roche. All divisions introduced or
continued major training and develop-
ment programmes for managerial
staff in cooperation with leading inter-
national universities and business
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Safety and Environmental Protection

In 1999 expenditure on safety and
environmental protection amounted to
some 533 million Swiss francs, or 2%
of consolidated sales. Major invest-
ments were made in integrated safety
and environmental protection systems
in new vitamin production facilities at
our sites in Dalry (Scotland) and
Grenzach (Germany).

No major accidents or incidents. We
are pleased to report that in 1999 there
were again no major incidents. Regular
training and continuing education, risk
analysis and safety and environmental
protection audits throughout the
Group helped keep the number of

Roche has long been aware that only a financially successful

company can be active in environmental and social areas

and that financial success only results if it acts in an environ-

mentally and socially responsible manner.
Hans Kuenzi, head of Corporate Safety and Environmental Protection

Safety and environmental protection expenditure in millions of CHF

1999 1998

Investment 154 229
Operating costs 379 363
Total expenditure 533 592

The EER or Eco-Efficiency Rate is an indicator of
the ecological effect of spending on environmental
protection as a proportion of sales and of the envi-
ronmental damage caused by Roche’s processes.
The EER develops proportionately to sales and in
inverse proportion to the amount spent on environ-
mental protection. The higher the EER value, the
greater the degree of eco-efficiency.
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occupational accidents at the previous
year’s low level. 39 S&E audits in 18
countries confirmed that the Roche
Group maintains a high standard of
safety and environmental protection.
This was reflected in awards to individ-
ual Roche affiliates. Our facility at
Heanor (United Kingdom), for exam-
ple, received the British Safety Coun-
cil’s National Safety Award, while our
plant in South Korea was awarded a
certificate by the Korea Industrial
Safety Corporation in recognition of
420 accident-free working days.

Effective environmental protection.
Thanks to Group-wide measures to
promote energy savings, energy con-
sumption remained practically steady
despite a further substantial increase in
production output. In addition, emis-
sions of volatile organic compounds
(VOCs) were again reduced Group-
wide, though with fluctuations from
site to site. By contrast, the total chem-
ical waste volume was up slightly as a
result of the significantly higher pro-
duction output. Further advances were
made in finding alternative substances
or engineering solutions to replace
substances that contribute to the
destruction of the ozone layer.

Commitment to sound environmental
policy. In 1999 Roche continued to
work actively to promote sustainable
development as a member of various
national and international bodies con-
cerned with occupational health and
safety, safe management of chemicals
and environmental protection.
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Finance
During 1999 Roche’s strong operating result was enhanced through a series of

transactions with Genentech shares. Exercising the call option and then placing

Genentech shares in the market contributed 3.2 billion Swiss francs to Group

net income. In addition, finance and treasury operations contributed a strong

net financial income of 1.1 billion Swiss francs. Thus, and despite the charges

for the vitamin case and the Genentech legal settlements, Group net income

increased 31% over prior years to record levels of 5.8 billion Swiss francs. On

an adjusted basis, excluding the effects from these items, Group net income

increased 15% over 1998. The ratio of equity and minority interests to total

assets improved from 41% to 43%.
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Highlights in millions of CHF

1999 % change 1999
adjusted 1998 adjusted actual

Sales 27,567 24,662 +12 27,567
EBITDA 7,324 6,444 +14 8,874
Operating profit 5,064 4,371 +16 6,421
Net income 5,031 4,392 +15 5,764
Equity and minority interests as % of total assets 43 41 – 43
EBITDA: Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation. This corresponds to operating profit before
depreciation and amortisation. 

Additional presentation of adjusted 1999 results to improve comparability
Actual net income increased by 31% to 5.8 billion Swiss francs. The comparison of the 1999 and
1998 results is significantly impacted by the accounting effects of the Genentech transactions,
the vitamin case and the Genentech legal settlements. The total positive net income effect
of these items amounts to 733 million Swiss francs. In order to make the development of Group
performance more comparable, adjusted figures are shown for 1999 in an additional statement
reflecting the situation as if the Genentech transactions, the vitamin case and the Genentech
legal settlements had not taken place. These matters are discussed separately below.

Dynamic sales growth 
Local sales growth accelerated in the second half of 1999 resulting in an increase of 9% in
local currencies. In addition, the strengthening of the US dollar boosted Swiss franc sales of all
divisions to achieve a 12% increase at Group level. Both Pharmaceuticals and Diagnostics again
achieved double-digit growth rates mainly driven by new products. Sales in Vitamins and Fine
Chemicals and in Fragrances and Flavours increased considerably in the second half of 1999, off-
setting the downturn in the first six months of 1999. The impact of additional sales due to ‘year
2000’ was not significant.

Further improvement of EBITDA and operating profit margins
Group EBITDA on an adjusted basis increased by 14% to 7.3 billion Swiss francs and the operating
profit increased by 16% to 5.1 billion Swiss francs mainly driven by a 12% increase in sales. The
EBITDA margin and the operating profit margin of the Group increased by approximately 0.5 per-
centage points each. EBITDA margins in Diagnostics improved further to 27% and in Fragrances
and Flavours to 24%. In Pharmaceuticals, the EBITDA margin was maintained at 29% despite a
substantial rise in marketing costs to exploit the potential of recently introduced products. In
Vitamins and Fine Chemicals the long-term price decline continued in 1999 resulting in a further
decrease of the EBITDA margin to 22%.

Another strong financial result
Total financial income reached 1,134 million Swiss francs in 1999 despite an average net debt
position of 4 billion Swiss francs. This strong positive result is primarily driven by net gains on
sales of marketable securities. 
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Substantial gain on Genentech transactions
On 13 June 1999 Roche exercised its option to acquire the remaining outstanding shares of
Genentech on 30 June for a total consideration of 6.2 billion Swiss francs. The acquisition led to
5.4 billion Swiss francs of additional goodwill and other intangible assets and 298 million Swiss
francs of increased inventories due to fair value adjustments. The corresponding increase in
annual amortisation charge is approximately 380 million Swiss francs. The fair value adjustments
in inventories are charged to cost of sales as consumed, i.e. over a period of 12 months. Through
two public offerings of 22 million Genentech shares at a price of USD 97 and of 20 million shares
at USD 143.50 in the second half of 1999, Roche achieved a pre-tax gain of close to 4.5 billion
Swiss francs. Subsequent to the second offering, Genentech announced a two for one share split,
which was effective from 2 November 1999. As of 31 December 1999 Roche again holds approxi-
mately 66% of Genentech shares. The net accounting gain of the above transactions on an after-
tax basis is approximately 3.2 billion Swiss francs.

Vitamin case provided for 
On 20 May 1999 Roche reached a settlement agreement with the US Department of Justice
regarding pricing practices in the vitamin market under which Roche paid a fine of 500 million
US dollars (776 million Swiss francs). On 3 November 1999 Roche reached an overall settlement
agreement to a class action brought by the US buyers of bulk vitamins under which Roche will
pay up to 632 million US dollars. A provision of 640 million US dollars (961 million Swiss francs)
was charged to cover the agreed settlement. In view of the private civil suits in the USA on behalf
of indirect buyers, civil suits in other countries as well as investigations in a number of jurisdic-
tions, an additional provision has been recorded. The total pre-tax expense amounts to 2.4 billion
Swiss francs.

Strengthened financial condition
The Group’s cash flow remained strong. The gross cash flow of the divisions (EBITDA) on an
adjusted basis increased by 880 million Swiss francs to 7.3 billion Swiss francs. The net debt
situation improved substantially in the second half of 1999, mainly as a result of the sales of
Genentech shares. At 31 December 1999 it amounted to 2.9 billion Swiss francs (8.8 billion
Swiss francs at 30 June 1999). The ratio of equity and minority interests to total assets increased
from 41% at year-end 1998 to 43% at the end of 1999. 

Givaudan spin-off allows for clearer focus on healthcare
On 6 December 1999 Roche announced the intention to spin off its Fragrances and Flavours busi-
ness through a special dividend, creating a separate listed company under the name of Givaudan
outside the Roche Group. This transaction will allow Roche to position itself even more clearly as
a research-based healthcare company. Based on the 1999 results the impact of the spin-off on
the financial results of the Roche Group is that sales will be reduced by 8%, EBITDA and operat-
ing profit by 6% and net income by 3%. After the spin-off the divisional sales mix will be:
Pharmaceuticals 65%, Diagnostics 21%, Vitamins and Fine Chemicals 14%.
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Consolidated income statement in millions of CHF

1999 % change 1999
adjusted 1998 adjusted actual

Sales 27,567 24,662 +12 27,567
Cost of sales (8,734) (7,901) +11 (8,874)
Gross profit 18,833 16,761 +12 18,693
Marketing and distribution (7,813) (6,774) +15 (7,813)
Research and development (3,782) (3,408) +11 (3,782)
Administration (1,174) (1,053) +11 (1,174)
Amortisation of intangible assets (1,014) (930) +9 (1,207)
Other operating income (expense), net 14 (225) –106 14
Gain from sales of Genentech shares – – – 4,461
Vitamin case – – – (2,426)
Genentech legal settlements – – – (345)
Operating profit 5,064 4,371 +16 6,421
Financial income (expense), net 1,134 1,083 +5 1,134
Result before taxes 6,198 5,454 +14 7,555
Income taxes (1,084) (965) +12 (1,902)
Result after taxes 5,114 4,489 +14 5,653
Change in accounting policy – employee benefits 27 – – 27
Minority interests (106) (76) +39 88
Share of result of associated companies (4) (21) –81 (4)
Net income 5,031 4,392 +15 5,764

Sales in millions of CHF

% change
% change (local

By division 1999 1998 (CHF) currencies)

Pharmaceuticals 16,487 14,376 +15 +12
Diagnostics 5,282 4,616 +14 +12
Vitamins and Fine Chemicals 3,649 3,630 +1 –2
Fragrances and Flavours 2,149 2,040 +5 +2
Total sales 27,567 24,662 +12 +9

Gross profit
In 1999 adjusted gross profit increased by 2.1 billion Swiss francs to 18.8 billion Swiss francs.
The gross profit margin of 68% remained at the level of 1998. Favourable changes in the division
mix with a higher share of Pharmaceuticals and Diagnostics sales and further productivity
improvements in all divisions were offset by the continued pressure on prices, in particular in
Vitamins and Fine Chemicals, as well as a higher share of new pharmaceutical products with
lower margins due to initially lower economies of scale.

Marketing and distribution
Marketing and distribution expenses increased substantially by 1.0 billion Swiss francs or 15%
to 7.8 billion Swiss francs. The major factors involved were increased marketing activities in
Pharmaceuticals, in particular the US direct-to-consumer campaign for Xenical and the US
launch of Tamiflu in the last quarter of 1999, and increased promotion of Diagnostics in order
to foster its leading position in the industry.
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Research and development
The 11% rise in research and development costs reflects the volume and quality of the Roche
pipeline. Increased expenditures on late-stage compounds and new initiatives such as Integrated
Health Care Solutions, New Lead Chemistry and Roche Genetics are the drivers. Research and
development costs as a percentage of sales on Group level remained at 14% in 1999. Within
Pharmaceuticals, which accounts for 80% of the Group’s research and development expenses,
they decreased slightly from 19% to 18.5%.

Administration
The increase in administration costs of 11% is slightly below sales growth mainly as a result of
improved processes despite increased legal costs. 

Amortisation of intangible assets
The slight increase in amortisation of intangible assets on an adjusted basis is primarily due to
foreign currency effects and the acquisition of intangible assets.

Other operating income (expense), net
Other operating income (expense) turned from a net expense of 225 million Swiss francs in 1998
to a net income of 14 million Swiss francs in 1999. Lower restructuring costs, higher service
income and the absence of the one-time withdrawal costs of Posicor and the European suspen-
sion of Tasmar in 1998 more than offset higher royalty expenses for licensed-in products such as
Viracept.

Operating profit
Operating profit on an adjusted basis increased from 4.4 to 5.1 billion Swiss francs in 1999.
The margin on sales increased from 17.7% in 1998 to 18.4%.

Divisional results in millions of CHF

Vitamins Fragrances
Pharma- and Fine and

1999 adjusted ceuticals Diagnostics Chemicals Flavours Other Group

Sales 16,487 5,282 3,649 2,149 – 27,567
EBITDA 4,759 1,430 799 524 (188) 7,324
– as % of sales 29 27 22 24 27
Operating profit 3,504 771 584 397 (192) 5,064
– as % of sales 21 15 16 19 18

1998
Sales 14,376 4,616 3,630 2,040 – 24,662
EBITDA 4,151 1,209 869 390 (175) 6,444
– as % of sales 29 26 24 19 26
Operating profit 3,019 598 673 263 (182) 4,371
– as % of sales 21 13 19 13 18

EBITDA (Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation) measures the gross cash
generation of the divisions. The divisional operating margins furthermore reflect the different
fixed asset intensities of the businesses and the acquisition history. 

The EBITDA margin of the Pharmaceuticals Division remained at 29% despite the significantly
higher marketing costs to exploit the potential of the new primary care products Xenical and
Tamiflu.
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The Diagnostics Division further improved its profitability in 1999. The EBITDA margin increased
by 1 percentage point to 27% mainly as a result of the strong growth of higher margin segments
and further synergies from the successful integration of Boehringer Mannheim.

The strong long-term competitive pressure in the Vitamins and Fine Chemicals business continued.
However, the division was able to offset the price decline to a significant extent by further pro-
ductivity improvements and substantial volume increases. EBITDA decreased by 2 percentage
points to 22%.

The Fragrances and Flavours Division is well on track improving its profitability significantly.
The EBITDA margin increased from 19% to 24% mainly as a result of further cost reductions in
purchasing, production and administration.

Financial income (expense), net
Total financial income (expense), net rose by 5% to 1.1 billion Swiss francs in 1999 primarily
through substantially higher gains on sales of marketable securities. An analysis of the components
of financial income and expense is given in Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Net income
Net income increased by 15% to 5.0 billion Swiss francs on an adjusted basis. This represents
a return on sales of 18%.

Balance sheet in millions of CHF

1999 % change 1999
adjusted 1998 adjusted actual

Long-term assets 30,419 27,952 +9 35,800
Current assets 34,298 27,927 +23 34,631
Total assets 64,717 55,879 +16 70,431

Equity 26,353 21,666 +22 26,954
Minority interests 1,246 1,149 +8 3,047
Non-current liabilities 24,362 21,416 +14 25,574
Current liabilities 12,756 11,648 +10 14,856
Total equity, minority interests and liabilities 64,717 55,879 +16 70,431

The Group’s total assets increased by 16% on an adjusted basis during 1999. The 17% rise in
the US dollar against the Swiss franc over the year was a significant contributor to this increase,
through the higher value of the Group’s US assets in Swiss franc terms. Another major factor was
an increase in working capital. This was caused by a number of factors, most notably an increase
in accounts receivable resulting from strong sales towards the end of the year and a build-up of
inventories in anticipation of sales development and product launches as well as guarding
against potential ‘year 2000’ problems.

A significant factor in the actual balance sheet was the Genentech transaction in June, which
added a further 5.7 billion Swiss francs in dollar denominated assets to the balance sheet.
Compared to year end 1998 the increase of total assets was achieved without any significant rise
in net borrowing, due to the two subsequent sales of Genentech shares.

The 22% rise in total equity and the increase in the ratio of equity and minority interests to total
assets to 43% in 1999 compared to 41% a year earlier are due mainly to the year’s substantial
net income.
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Cash flows in millions of CHF

1999 1998

Cash flows from operating activities 1,727 3,617
Cash flows from financing activities (895) 3,990
Cash flows for investing activities (867) (7,916)
Net effect of currency translation on cash 103 (25)
Increase (decrease) in cash 68 (334)

Within operating cash flows, the increased revenues generated by operations were more than
absorbed by the costs of the vitamin case and the increase in working capital described above.
Cash flows from financing activities included the 1.5 billion Swiss francs raised by the issue
of the US dollar ‘Chameleon’ bonds, and a net repayment of long-term bank loans and other
borrowings of 1 billion Swiss francs. Cash flows for investing activities were strongly influenced
by the positive effects of the Genentech transactions.

Foreign exchange rates
During the year the US dollar, the Group’s major non-European currency, strengthened by 17%
against the Swiss franc. For the year as a whole, however, the exchange rate was only 4% higher
than the 1998 average, limiting the favourable effect of the rise on sales and operating profit. The
euro and the major continental European currencies remained practically stable in relation to the
Swiss franc. The strengthening of the Japanese yen against the Swiss franc was more pronounced:
33% from year-end to year-end and 20% on average. However, this change did not significantly
affect operating results.

Exchange rates against the Swiss franc were:

31 December Average 31 December Average 31 December
1999 1999 1998 1998 1997

1 USD 1.60 1.50 1.37 1.45 1.45
1 EUR/XEU 1.61 1.60 1.60 1.63 1.61
100 JPY 1.57 1.33 1.18 1.11 1.12

Introduction of the euro
Since 1 January 1999 the euro is a major Group currency. The Group has been preparing since
1996 for the introduction of this new currency. The introduction presents various opportunities
to streamline the conduct of business. With regard to systems, business processes and IT systems
of European Group companies have been adapted to handle euro-denominated transactions.
The companies concerned have plans in place to deal with dual-currency transactions in the tran-
sition period to 2002. Those located in EMU countries will be ready to convert to the euro for
accounting purposes.

CHF/USD exchange rate

1999 1999 half-year trend 1998
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Consolidated statements of income for the years ended 31 December in millions of CHF

1999 1998

Sales4 27,567 24,662
Cost of sales (8,874) (7,901)
Gross profit 18,693 16,761

Marketing and distribution (7,813) (6,774)
Research and development 4 (3,782) (3,408)
Administration (1,174) (1,053)
Amortisation of intangible assets13 (1,207) (930)
Other operating income (expense), net 9 14 (225)
Gain from sales of Genentech shares3 4,461 –
Vitamin case5 (2,426) –
Genentech legal settlements6 (345) –
Operating profit 6,421 4,371

Financial income (expense), net10 1,134 1,083
Result before taxes 7,555 5,454

Income taxes11 (1,902) (965)
Result after taxes 5,653 4,489

Change in accounting policy – employee benefits8 27 –
Minority interests23 88 (76)
Share of result of associated companies14 (4) (21)

Net income 5,764 4,392

Earnings per share and non-voting equity security (CHF)22 668 509

Reference numbers indicate corresponding Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Earnings per share and non-voting equity security shown are both basic and diluted.
For 1998 the share of result of associated companies was reclassified from other operating income (expense), net to a
separate heading on the income statement. 
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Consolidated balance sheets at 31 December in millions of CHF 

1999 1998

Long-term assets
Property, plant and equipment12 14,240 12,704
Intangible assets13 15,672 10,757
Investments in associated companies14 535 425
Other investments 1,736 1,615
Deferred income tax assets11 1,170 823
Other long-term assets15 2,447 1,628
Total long-term assets 35,800 27,952

Current assets
Inventories16 6,546 5,389
Accounts receivable – trade17 6,178 4,535
Current income tax assets11 408 476
Other current assets18 2,633 1,469
Cash and marketable securities19 18,866 16,058
Total current assets 34,631 27,927

Total assets 70,431 55,879

Equity
Share capital21 160 160
Non-voting equity securities (Genussscheine) 21 p.m. p.m.
Retained earnings 26,669 21,655
Cumulative translation differences 125 (149)
Total equity 26,954 21,666

Minority interests23 3,047 1,149

Non-current liabilities
Long-term debt24 15,962 13,929
Deferred income tax liabilities11 3,895 1,979
Liabilities for post-employment benefits8 2,764 2,495
Provisions26 1,694 1,973
Other non-current liabilities 1,259 1,040 
Total non-current liabilities 25,574 21,416

Current liabilities
Short-term debt24 5,702 4,799
Current income tax liabilities11 728 514
Current portion of provisions26 2,660 1,379
Accounts payable – trade and other 2,378 2,088
Accrued and other current liabilities20 3,388 2,868
Total current liabilities 14,856 11,648

Total equity, minority interests and liabilities 70,431 55,879

Reference numbers indicate corresponding Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
p.m. = pro memoria. Non-voting equity securities have no nominal value (see Note 21). 
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Consolidated statements of changes in equity for the years ended 31 December in millions of CHF 

1999 1998

Share capital21

Balance at 1 January and at 31 December 160 160

Non-voting equity securities (Genussscheine) 21

Balance at 1 January and at 31 December p.m. p.m.

Retained earnings
Balance at 1 January 21,655 17,979
Net income 5,764 4,392
Dividends paid21 (750) (716)
Balance at 31 December 26,669 21,655

Currency translation differences
Balance at 1 January (149) 111
Gains (losses) recognised during the year 274 (260)
Balance at 31 December 125 (149)

Total equity at 31 December 26,954 21,666

Reference numbers indicate corresponding Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
p.m. = pro memoria. Non-voting equity securities have no nominal value (see Note 21). 



56 Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated statements of cash flows for years ended 31 December in millions of CHF

1999 1998

Cash flows from operating activities
Operating profit 6,421 4,371
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment12 1,246 1,143
Amortisation of intangible assets13 1,207 930
EBITDA 8,874 6,444
Effects of Genentech transactions, vitamin case 
and Genentech legal settlements28 (1,550) –
EBITDA (on adjusted basis) 7,324 6,444

Other adjustment for non-cash operating income and expense28 619 16
(Increase) decrease in working capital (2,618) (141)
Costs of vitamin case paid5 (1,282) –
Costs of Genentech legal settlements paid6 (75) –
Restructuring costs paid26 (910) (1,529)
Income taxes paid (830) (671)
Payments made for defined benefit post-employment plans8 (290) (304)
Other operating cash flows (211) (198)
Total cash flows from operating activities 1,727 3,617

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of long-term debt28 4,175 5,663
Repayment of long-term debt28 (3,689) (2,070)
Payment on exercise of ‘Samurai’ warrants – (490)
Increase (decrease) in short-term borrowings 70 2,415
Interest and dividends paid28 (1,436) (1,519)
Other (15) (9)
Total cash flows from financing activities (895) 3,990

Cash provided by operating and financing activities 832 7,607

Cash flows for investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets12, 13 (2,413) (2,281)
Disposal of property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets12, 13 376 418
Investments in subsidiaries and associated companies28 (6,222) (14,789)
Divestments of businesses28 7,353 4,650
Interest and dividends received28 459 480
Proceeds of sales of marketable securities, net of purchases, and other (420) 3,606
Total cash flows for investing activities (867) (7,916)

Net effect of currency translation on cash 103 (25)

Increase (decrease) in cash 68 (334)

Cash at beginning of year 1,984 2,318

Cash at end of year19 2,052 1,984

Reference numbers indicate corresponding Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
EBITDA: Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation. This corresponds to operating profit before depreciation
and amortisation.
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Notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements 

1. Summary of significant accounting policies

Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial statements
The consolidated financial statements of the Roche Group are prepared in accordance with and
comply with International Accounting Standards. They are prepared under the historical cost
convention. 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contin-
gent liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. If in the future such estimates and assumptions, which are
based on management’s best judgement at the date of the financial statements, deviate from
the actual circumstances, the original estimates and assumptions will be modified as appropriate
in the year in which the circumstances change.

Consolidation policy
These financial statements are the consolidated financial statements of Roche Holding Ltd,
a company registered in Switzerland, and its subsidiaries (hereafter ‘the Group’).

The subsidiaries are those companies controlled, directly or indirectly, by Roche Holding Ltd,
where control is defined as the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an enter-
prise so as to obtain benefits from its activities. This control is normally evidenced when Roche
Holding Ltd owns, either directly or indirectly, more than 50% of the voting rights of a company’s
share capital. Companies acquired during the year are consolidated from the date on which
operating control is transferred to the Group, and subsidiaries to be divested are included up to
the date of divestment. Companies acquired to be resold are not consolidated but are classified
as assets held for sale and carried at cost.

Investments in associated companies are accounted for by the equity method. These are
companies over which the Group exercises significant influence, but which it does not control.
This is normally evidenced when the Group owns 20% or more of the voting rights of the company.
Interests in joint ventures are reported using the line-by-line proportionate consolidation method.
Other investments are carried at cost after deducting appropriate provisions for permanent
impairment and are included in long-term assets.

Foreign currency valuation
Assets and liabilities of Group companies reporting in currencies other than Swiss francs
(foreign entities) are translated into Swiss francs using year-end rates of exchange. Sales, costs,
expenses, net income and cash flows are translated at the average rates of exchange for the year.
Translation differences due to the changes in exchange rates between the beginning and the end of
the year and the difference between net income translated at the average and year-end exchange
rates are taken directly to equity. Exchange gains and losses on hedges of non-Swiss franc net
investments and on intercompany balances of a long-term investment nature are also taken to
equity. On the divestment of a foreign entity, the cumulative currency translation differences relating
to that foreign entity are recognised in income as part of the gain or loss on divestment.
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Gains and losses on exchange arising in Group companies from the translation into their local
reporting currency of their financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies and
from the settlement of foreign currency transactions are included in income.

Group companies operating in highly inflationary economies maintain financial information for
Group reporting purposes in US dollars or Swiss francs depending on the circumstances. The
effect of exchange rate differences between the local currency and the US dollar or Swiss franc
in respect of financial assets and liabilities is included in income.

Sales and cost of sales
Sales represent amounts received and receivable for goods supplied and services rendered
to customers after deducting volume discounts and sales taxes. Cost of sales includes the
corresponding direct production costs and related production overhead of goods manufactured
and services rendered.

Research and development
Research costs are charged against income as incurred, with the exception of buildings and
major items of equipment, which are capitalised and depreciated. Development costs are also
charged against income as incurred since in the opinion of management the criteria for their
recognition as an asset are not met.

Employee benefits
Wages, salaries, social security contributions, paid annual leave and sick leave, bonuses, options
and non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated services are rendered
by employees of the Group. Where the Group provides long-term employee benefits the cost is
accrued to match the rendering of the services by the employees concerned. 

The Group operates a number of defined benefit and defined contribution plans throughout the
world. The aggregated cost for the year for defined benefit plans is determined using the pro-
jected unit credit method. This reflects service rendered by employees to the dates of valuation
and incorporates actuarial assumptions primarily regarding discount rates used in determining
the present value of benefits, projected rates of remuneration growth, and long-term expected
rates of return for plan assets. Discount rates are based on the market yields of high-quality
corporate bonds in the country concerned. Differences between assumptions and actual experi-
ences, and effects of changes in actuarial assumptions are allocated over the estimated average
remaining working lives of employees. Past service costs are allocated over the average period
until the benefits become vested. Pension assets and liabilities in different defined benefit
schemes are not offset unless the Group has a legally enforceable right to use the surplus in
one plan to settle obligations in the other plan. The Group’s contributions to the defined contribu-
tion plans are charged to the income statement in the year to which they relate.

Taxation
Income taxes include all taxes based upon the taxable profits of the Group, including withholding
taxes payable on the distribution of retained earnings within the Group. Other taxes not based
on income, such as property and capital taxes, are included within operating expenses or financial
expenses according to their nature. 

Provision for income taxes, mainly withholding taxes, which could arise on the remittance of
retained earnings, principally relating to subsidiaries, is only made where there is a current inten-
tion to remit such earnings.
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Deferred income taxes are provided using the liability method, under which deferred tax conse-
quences are recognised for temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying values for financial reporting purposes. Deferred income tax assets relating to
the carry-forward of unused tax losses are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses can be utilised.

Current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when the income taxes are levied
by the same taxation authority and when there is a legally enforceable right to offset them.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost of purchase or construction and are
depreciated on a straight-line basis, except for land, which is not depreciated. Estimated useful
lives of major classes of depreciable assets are as follows:

Buildings and land improvements 40 years
Machinery and equipment 5–15 years
Office equipment 3 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

Investment grants or similar assistance for projects are initially recorded as deferred income
(in other non-current liabilities) and subsequently recognised as income over the useful lives of
the related assets. Repairs and maintenance costs are recognised as expenses as incurred.
Borrowing costs are not capitalised. Assets acquired under finance leases are depreciated over
their estimated useful lives. Payments made under operating leases are charged against income
on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. 

Intangible assets
Goodwill on acquisitions entered into after 1 January 1995 is recorded in the balance sheet as an
intangible asset and is amortised using the straight-line basis over its estimated useful life for a
period not exceeding 20 years from the date of acquisition. Any goodwill or fair value adjustments
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are
generally recorded in Swiss francs using the exchange rate at the effective date of the transac-
tion. Goodwill on acquisitions entered into prior to 1 January 1995 was charged directly to equity.
Other intangible assets are initially recorded at their acquisition cost and are amortised using the
straight-line basis over their estimated economic lives for a period not exceeding 20 years from
the date of acquisition.

Inventories 
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Cost is determined by the first-
in first-out method. 

Cash and marketable securities 
Cash comprises cash on hand and time, call and current balances with banks and similar
institutions. For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash is as defined above. Marketable
securities are shown at the lower of cost or market value.

Debt instruments 
The proceeds, net of expenses, of bonds issued with warrants are allocated between the bonds
and the warrants in proportion to their respective fair market values at the time of issue. Any dis-
count arising from the low coupon rate and represented by the difference between the principal
amount and the net proceeds is charged to interest expense over the life of the bonds. Obligations
arising from warrants issued with debt instruments are accrued over the period the warrants are
outstanding to meet the maximum cash obligation at the date when the warrants are exercisable.
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Provisions 
Provisions are recognised where a legal or constructive obligation has been incurred which will
probably lead to an outflow of resources which can be reasonably estimated. Provisions are
subject to regular review and are adjusted where necessary to reflect the current best estimate
of the obligation.

Financial instruments 
Gains and losses from forward exchange contracts, options and currency swaps used to hedge
potential exchange rate exposures are deferred and then offset against losses and gains on the
specific transactions being hedged. The fee agreed in establishing each contract is amortised
over the duration of the contract. Interest differentials under swap arrangements, forward rate
agreements and interest rate caps used to manage interest rate exposures are recognised by
adjustments to interest expense. When such derivative financial instruments are used for trading
purposes any gains and losses from changes in their market value are taken to income as they
arise. Certain covered call option contracts entered into by the Group require that underlying
securities be lodged with the financial institutions involved in the arrangement. 

The fair values at the balance sheet date are approximately in line with their reported carrying
values unless specifically mentioned in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

International Accounting Standards 
The Group has adopted several revised or new International Accounting Standards effective
from 1 January 1999. Where necessary, the comparatives have been reclassified or extended
from the previously reported results to take into account any additional disclosure requirements.
The effects on retained earnings of changes in accounting policies are charged or credited to
the consolidated statement of income in the current year. 

Presentation of financial statements, leases. No significant adjustments were necessary as
a result of these implementations, as the Group’s accounting policies previously reflected the
main principles in the new standards. The share of result of associated companies was reclassi-
fied from other operating income (expense), net to a separate heading on the income statement.

Discontinuing operations. The spin-off of the Group’s Fragrances and Flavours Division is
reported in accordance with the new standard.

Segment reporting. The Group’s primary format for reporting segment information is business
segments and the secondary format is geographical segments. The reportable business segments
are the four divisions of the Group. Under the previous accounting policy the Group reported two
industry segments: healthcare (which included the Pharmaceuticals, Diagnostics, and Vitamins
and Fine Chemicals Divisions), and Fragrances and Flavours. The reportable geographical seg-
ments are unchanged from those previously used.

Employee benefits. The Group’s previous accounting policy largely reflected the principles in
the revised standard, and therefore the implementation of the revised standard does not have a
significant effect on previously reported results or current year income. The transition effects of
the revised standard are described in Note 8.

Revised and new standards for 2000 and 2001. For the Consolidated Financial Statements for
2000, revised or new International Accounting Standards will come into effect in respect of ‘Prop-
erty, plant and equipment’, ‘Impairment of assets’, ‘Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent
assets’, ‘Intangible assets’, ‘Business combinations’ and ‘Events after the balance sheet date’, and
for 2001 in respect of ‘Financial instruments: recognition and measurement’. The Group is cur-
rently studying the potential effects of these standards and the interpretations of the Standing
Interpretations Committee. None of the changes will affect the Group’s future cash flows.
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International Accounting Standards will continue to be developed and revised in the future.
This will lead to further adaptations of the Group’s accounting policies in the coming years. 

2. Financial risk management

Financial risk management within the Group is governed by policies approved by senior manage-
ment. These policies cover foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, market risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. Group policies also cover areas such as cash management, investment of excess
funds and the raising of short- and long-term debt.

When deemed appropriate certain of the above risks are altered through the use of financial
instruments. Group management believes that, in order to create the optimum value for the Group,
it is not desirable to eliminate or mitigate all possible market fluctuations. Financial instruments
are selectively used to create and optimise value. Group companies report details of the financial
instruments outstanding and financial liquidity position to Group Treasury on a monthly basis. 

Foreign exchange risk
The Group operates across the world and is exposed to movements in foreign currencies affecting
its net income and financial position, as expressed in Swiss francs. 

Transaction exposure arises because the amount of local currency paid or received for trans-
actions denominated in foreign currencies may vary due to changes in exchange rates. For many
Group companies income will be primarily in the local currency. A significant amount of expendi-
ture, especially for purchase of goods for resale and interest on and repayment of loans will be in
foreign currencies. Similarly, transaction exposure arises on net balances of monetary assets held
in foreign currencies. Group companies manage this exposure at a local level, if necessary by
means of financial instruments such as options and forward contracts. In addition, Group Treasury
monitors total worldwide exposure with the help of comprehensive data received on a monthly
basis.

Translation exposure arises from the consolidation of the foreign currency denominated finan-
cial statements of the Group’s foreign subsidiaries. The effect on the Group’s consolidated equity
is shown as a currency translation movement. The Group hedges significant net investments in
foreign currencies by taking foreign currency loans or issuing foreign currency denominated debt
instruments. Major translation exposures are monitored on a regular basis.

A significant part of the Group’s cash outflows for research, development, production and
administration is denominated in Swiss francs, while a much smaller proportion of the Group’s
cash inflows are Swiss franc denominated. As a result, an increase in the value of the Swiss franc
relative to other currencies has an adverse impact on consolidated net income. Similarly, a relative
fall in the value of the Swiss franc has a favourable effect on results published in Swiss francs. 

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk arises from movements in interest rates which could have adverse effects on the
Group’s net income or financial position. Changes in interest rates cause variations in interest
income and expenses on interest-bearing assets and liabilities. In addition, they can affect the
market value of certain financial assets, liabilities and instruments as described in the following
section on market risk.

The interest rates on the Group’s major debt instruments are fixed, as described in Note 24,
which reduces the Group’s exposure to changes in interest rates. Group companies manage their
short-term interest rate risk at a local level, if necessary using financial instruments such as
interest rate forward contracts, swaps and options.
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Market risk
Changes in the market value of certain financial assets, liabilities and instruments can affect the
net income or financial position of the Group. The Group’s long-term investments are held for
strategic purposes, and changes in market value do not affect the carrying value unless a perma-
nent loss in value is indicated. The Group’s marketable securities are held for fund management
purposes. The risk of loss in value is reduced by a very careful review prior to investing, concen-
tration of investments and continuous monitoring of the performance of investments and changes
in their risk configuration. 

Certain of the Group’s debt instruments, as described in Note 24, have options whereby, under
certain conditions, the holders can request conversion of the debt into non-voting equity securities.
It is the policy of the Group to provide for or arrange various alternatives, which are necessary
to ultimately settle these obligations.

Credit risk
Credit risk arises from the possibility that the counter-party to a transaction may be unable or
unwilling to meet their obligations causing a financial loss to the Group.

Trade receivables are subject to a policy of active risk management focussing on the assessment
of country risk, credit limits, ongoing credit evaluation and account monitoring procedures. Col-
lateral is generally not required. There are no significant concentrations within trade receivables
of counter-party credit risk due to the large number of customers that the Group deals with and
their wide geographical spread. Country risk limits and exposures are continuously monitored.

The exposure of other financial assets and liabilities to credit risk is controlled by setting a policy
for limiting credit exposure to high-quality counter-parties, continuously reviewing credit ratings,
and limiting individual aggregate credit exposure accordingly. 

Liquidity risk
Group companies need to have sufficient availability of cash to meet their obligations. Individual
companies are responsible for their own cash management, including the short-term investment
of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to cover cash deficits, subject to guidance by the
Group and, in certain cases, to approval at Group level. 

The Group maintains sufficient reserves of cash and readily realisable marketable securities to
meet its liquidity requirements at all times. In addition, the strong international creditworthiness of
the Group allows it to make efficient use of international capital markets for financing purposes. 

3. Group organisation

An overview of the operating subsidiaries and associated companies is included on pages
102 to 103. In addition to the operating companies, the Group has holding and finance compa-
nies. 

Genentech
On 13 June 1999 the Group exercised its option to acquire the remaining outstanding Special
Common Stock of Genentech, Inc. on 30 June 1999. As a result, Genentech became a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Group. The total consideration of 4,007 million US dollars (6,222 million
Swiss francs) includes the contribution by the Group to Genentech of the funds required by
Genentech to purchase its outstanding Special Common Stock and the cost to Genentech of
settling outstanding obligations under its employee stock option plan.
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Genentech was already fully consolidated in the Group’s financial statements before the purchase
of the outstanding Special Common Stock. The consideration paid was allocated to the assets
and liabilities of Genentech, and consequently the total carrying value of Genentech increased by
6,222 million Swiss francs. This allocation is shown in the table below. As a result of the alloca-
tion the Group’s charge for amortisation of intangible assets will increase by 380 million Swiss
francs per year.

in millions of CHF

Property, plant and equipment 25
Goodwill 3,188
Other intangible assets 2,128
Inventories 298
Other current assets 20
Deferred income tax liabilities (735)
Minority interest 1,298
Net increase in carrying value of Genentech in the consolidated balance sheet 6,222

On 23 July 1999 and 21 October 1999 the Group sold a total of 34% of the Common Stock of
Genentech through public offerings yielding total proceeds of 4.9 billion US dollars (7.4 billion Swiss
francs). The total resulting pre-tax gain of 4.5 billion Swiss francs is calculated as the difference
between the proceeds of the sales, net of incidental costs, and the proportion of net assets. On
15 March 2000 the Group announced a further public offering of Genentech shares (see Note 29).

DePuy
In 1998 Roche sold at a price of 35 US dollars per share the 84% shareholding in DePuy Inc.,
which it had acquired in 1997 as part of the acquisition of Corange Limited. The proceeds of the
sale amounted to 2.9 billion US dollars (3.9 billion Swiss francs). The Group’s financial income for
1998 included 115 million US dollars (167 million Swiss Francs) representing the excess of the
proceeds on disposal over the fair value of the shareholding in the DePuy business determined
as at 31 December 1997, the date of acquisition. The operating results of DePuy in 1998 were
accordingly not included in the consolidated results of the Group for that year.

Other acquisitions and divestments
Assets identified for divestment in the following year are reclassified as assets held for sale
within other current assets (see Note 18). These assets normally consist mainly of inventories,
property, plant and equipment, and other long-term assets.

In 1998 the Group sold the worldwide marketing rights for certain prescription pharmaceutical
products which represented annual sales of approximately 67 million US dollars (97 million Swiss
francs). Proceeds amounted to 179 million US dollars (260 million Swiss francs). 

Also in 1998 Retavase, a product acquired with Corange Limited, was sold as required by the US
Federal Trade Commission, yielding proceeds of 315 million US dollars (457 million Swiss francs).
To obtain regulatory clearance for the Corange acquisition, the Group also divested two further
small product-lines, the Cedia DAT product-line and the European Cobas Mira business. In none
of the above cases did any material gain or loss arise.
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4. Segment information in millions of CHF

Divisional information
Vitamins

Pharma- and Fine Fragrances
1999 ceuticals Diagnostics Chemicals and Flavours Others Total

Segment results
Segment revenue/divisional sales 16,684 5,283 3,832 2,231 – 28,030
Less inter-divisional salesa) (197) (1) (183) (82) – (463)
Divisional sales to third parties 16,487 5,282 3,649 2,149 – 27,567

EBITDAb) 8,735 1,430 (1,627) 524 (188) 8,874
Depreciation (672) (336) (169) (65) (4) (1,246)
Amortisation (776) (323) (46) (62) – (1,207)
Segment results/operating profit 7,287 771 (1,842) 397 (192) 6,421

Adjusted segment results (excluding the effects of the Genentech transactions, the vitamin
case and the Genentech legal settlements)
EBITDAb) 4,759 1,430 799 524 (188) 7,324
Operating profit 3,504 771 584 397 (192) 5,064

Segment assets and liabilities
Divisional operating assetsc) 25,138 10,142 4,440 2,977 56 42,753
Other segment assetsd) 534 35 100 17 – 686
Segment assets 25,672 10,177 4,540 2,994 56 43,439
Non-segment assetse) 26,992
Total assets 70,431

Divisional operating liabilitiesc) (674) (346) (149) (72) (1) (1,242)
Other segment liabilitiesd) (2,033) (1,660) (1,384) (141) – (5,218)
Segment liabilities (2,707) (2,006) (1,533) (213) (1) (6,460)
Non-segment liabilitiese) (33,970)
Total liabilities (40,430)

Other segment information
Additions to property, plant
and equipment 963 568 450 165 4 2,150
Other capital expendituref) 5,544 65 27 (34) 2 5,604
Research and development costs 3,048 516 130 50 38 3,782
Share of result  
of associated companies – (4) – – – (4)
Investments  
in associated companies – 515 2 – 18 535
Number of employees 40,299 14,456 7,551 4,907 482 67,695

a) Transfer prices for inter-divisional sales are set on an arm’s length basis.
b) EBITDA: Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation. This corresponds to operating profit before

depreciation and amortisation. Within EBITDA ‘others’ mainly comprise corporate expenditure that is not allocated to
the divisions.

c) Divisional operating assets consist primarily of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, receivables and
inventories. Divisional operating liabilities consist of trade accounts payable.

d) Other segment assets and liabilities consist of assets and liabilities which can be reasonably attributed to the reported
business segments. These include pension balances and some provisions.

e) Non-segment assets and liabilities mainly include current and deferred income tax balances, and financial assets
and liabilities, principally cash, marketable securities, investments in associated companies, other investments and debt.

f) Other capital expenditure includes additions to intangible assets (including goodwill) and increases in property,
plant and equipment arising from acquisitions.
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Vitamins
Pharma- and Fine Fragrances

1998 ceuticals Diagnostics Chemicals and Flavours Others Total

Segment results
Segment revenues/divisional sales 14,699 4,616 3,803 2,108 – 25,226
Less inter-divisional salesa) (323) – (173) (68) – (564)
Divisional sales to third parties 14,376 4,616 3,630 2,040 – 24,662

EBITDAb) 4,151 1,209 869 390 (175) 6,444
Depreciation (622) (297) (150) (68) (6) (1,143)
Amortisation (510) (314) (46) (59) (1) (930)
Segment results/operating profit 3,019 598 673 263 (182) 4,371

Segment assets and liabilities
Divisional operating assetsc) 17,078 9,392 4,280 2,632 72 33,454
Other segment assetsd) 278 24 85 1 – 388
Segment assets 17,356 9,416 4,365 2,633 72 33,842
Non-segment assetse) 22,037
Total assets 55,879

Divisional operating liabilitiesc) (581) (249) (187) (72) – (1,089)
Other segment liabilitiesd) (2,544) (1,752) (211) (67) – (4,574)
Segment liabilities (3,125) (2,001) (398) (139) – (5,663)
Non-segment liabilitiese) (27,401)
Total liabilities (33,064)

Other segment information
Additions to property, plant
and equipment 858 439 442 144 – 1,883
Other capital expendituref) 332 34 31 1 – 398
Research and development costs 2,743 471 130 29 35 3,408
Share of result
of associated companies – (21) – – – (21)
Investments 
in associated companies 1 408 1 – 15 425
Number of employees 40,048 13,950 7,432 4,819 458 66,707

a) Transfer prices for inter-divisional sales are set on an arm’s length basis.
b) EBITDA: Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation. This corresponds to operating profit before

depreciation and amortisation. Within EBITDA ‘others’ mainly comprise corporate expenditure that is not allocated to
the divisions.

c) Divisional operating assets consist primarily of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, receivables and
inventories. Divisional operating liabilities consist of trade accounts payable.

d) Other segment assets and liabilities consist of assets and liabilities which can be reasonably attributed to the reported
business segments. These include pension balances and some provisions.

e) Non-segment assets and liabilities mainly include current and deferred income tax balances, and financial assets
and liabilities, principally cash, marketable securities, investments in associated companies, other investments and debt. 

f) Other capital expenditure includes additions to intangible assets (including goodwill) and increases in property,
plant and equipment arising from acquisitions.
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Geographical information
Additions to property, 

Sales to third parties plant and equipment and 
1999 (by destination) Segment assetsa) other capital expenditureb)

Switzerland 455 4,168 515
European Union 9,326 14,107 842
Rest of Europe 1,090 395 30
Europe 10,871 18,670 1,387
North America 10,130 18,922 6,076
Latin America 2,577 2,372 133
Asia 3,109 2,923 124
Africa, Australia and Oceania 880 552 34
Segment total 27,567 43,439 7,754

Non-segment assetsc) – 26,992 –
Consolidated total 27,567 70,431 7,754

1998
Switzerland 445 4,115 609
European Union 8,799 12,648 717
Rest of Europe 1,017 286 28
Europe 10,261 17,049 1,354
North America 8,698 12,324 655
Latin America 2,455 1,867 101
Asia 2,453 2,150 144
Africa, Australia and Oceania 795 452 27
Segment total 24,662 33,842 2,281

Non-segment assetsc) – 22,037 –
Consolidated total 24,662 55,879 2,281

a) Segment assets consist primarily of property, plant and equipment, intangibles, receivables and inventories. Segment
liabilities are not included.

b) Other capital expenditure includes additions to intangible assets (including goodwill) and increases in property, plant
and equipment arising from acquisitions. 

c) Non-segment assets mainly include current and deferred income tax assets, and financial assets, principally cash,
marketable securities, investments in associated companies and other investments. 

5. Vitamin case

On 20 May 1999 the Group reached a settlement agreement with the US Department of Justice
regarding pricing practices in the vitamin market under which the Group paid a fine of 500 mil-
lion US dollars (776 million Swiss francs). This was paid during 1999. 

On 3 November 1999 the Group reached an overall settlement agreement to a class action suit
brought by the US buyers of bulk vitamins under which the Group will pay up to 632 million US
dollars as part of the settlement. A provision of 640 million US dollars (961 million Swiss francs)
was recorded to cover the settlement. 284 million dollars (427 million Swiss francs) of this was paid
in 1999. In February 2000 several customers in the class action decided to opt out of the proposed
settlement and pursue claims against the Group individually. At present it is not possible to
determine the ultimate outcome of these separate claims by customers who have opted out of the
class action settlement.
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The Group is negotiating with the plaintiffs in a number of other private civil suits in the United
States of America. Outside the United States of America other jurisdictions, including the Euro-
pean Union, are investigating the practices in their vitamin markets and civil suits have been filed
in Canada and Australia. The status of these matters is at various stages. An agreement has been
reached with the Canadian competition authorities under which Roche paid a fine of 51 million
Canadian dollars (53 million Swiss francs). 

In view of the private civil suits in the United States of America on behalf of indirect buyers,
civil suits in other countries as well as investigations in a number of jurisdictions, an additional
provision has been recorded. The total pre-tax expense amounts to 2.4 billion Swiss francs.

6. Genentech legal settlements

On 19 November 1999 the Group’s subsidiary Genentech reached a settlement agreement with
the University of California regarding alleged patent infringement involving Genentech’s human
growth hormone products. Under the settlement Genentech will pay the University of California
200 million US dollars (320 million Swiss francs). Furthermore, Genentech made a payment
of 50 million US dollars (75 million Swiss francs) to settle an investigation by the United States
federal authorities relating to past clinical, sales and marketing activities associated with a
human growth hormone. The total pre-tax expense recorded in the current year is 345 million
Swiss francs.

7. Givaudan spin-off in millions of CHF

On 6 December 1999 the Group announced the spin-off of its Fragrances and Flavours Division,
creating a separate company outside the Roche Group. The company will operate under the
Givaudan name and will include the operations of the Fragrances and Flavours Division after cer-
tain reorganisation and recapitalisation transactions. The Givaudan shares will be distributed
as a special dividend to holders of Roche shares and non-voting equity securities. The spin-off is
subject to approval by the Group’s shareholders at the next Annual General Meeting, scheduled
for 9 May 2000. Givaudan will be headquartered in Vernier, Switzerland, near Geneva. Givaudan
operates in over 100 countries and has subsidiaries in more than 20 countries. Worldwide,
it employs 4,907 people. 
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The historic sales, results, assets, liabilities and net cash flows of the Fragrances and Flavours
Division as part of the Roche Group are shown as discontinuing operations in the following table: 

Continuing operations Discontinuing operations Total Total
Statement of income 1999 1998 1999 1998 1999 1998

Sales 25,799 23,118 2,231 2,108 28,030 25,226
Less inter-divisional salesa) (381) (496) (82) (68) (463) (564)
Sales to third parties 25,418 22,622 2,149 2,040 27,567 24,662

EBITDAb) 8,350 6,054 524 390 8,874 6,444
Depreciation (1,181) (1,075) (65) (68) (1,246) (1,143)
Amortisation (1,145) (871) (62) (59) (1,207) (930)
Operating profit 6,024 4,108 397 263 6,421 4,371

Financial income (expense), net 1,242 1,195 (108) (112) 1,134 1,083
Result before taxes 7,266 5,303 289 151 7,555 5,454

Income taxes (1,797) (899) (105) (66) (1,902) (965)
Result after taxes 5,469 4,404 184 85 5,653 4,489

Change in accounting policy –
employee benefits 29 – (2) – 27 –
Minority interests 88 (76) – – 88 (76)
Share of result 
of associated companies (4) (21) – – (4) (21)
Net income 5,582 4,307 182 85 5,764 4,392

Balance sheet
Property, plant and equipment 13,304 11,916 936 788 14,240 12,704
Intangible assets 14,492 9,634 1,180 1,123 15,672 10,757
Other long-term assets 5,577 4,242 311 249 5,888 4,491
Current assets 33,329 26,989 1,302 938 34,631 27,927
Total assets 66,702 52,781 3,729 3,098 70,431 55,879

Debt 15,948 13,792 14 137 15,962 13,929
Other non-current liabilities 7,730 5,880 1,882 1,607 9,612 7,487
Current liabilities 13,754 10,851 1,102 797 14,856 11,648
Total liabilities 37,432 30,523 2,998 2,541 40,430 33,064

Net assets 29,270 22,258 731 557 30,001 22,815

Statement of cash flows
Cash flows from operating activities 1,436 3,303 291 314 1,727 3,617
Cash flows from financing activities (749) 4,137 (146) (147) (895) 3,990
Cash provided by operating 
and financing activities 687 7,440 145 167 832 7,607
Cash flows for investing activities (743) (7,765) (124) (151) (867) (7,916)
Net effect of currency translation 
on cash 94 (33) 9 8 103 (25)
Increase (decrease) in cash 38 (358) 30 24 68 (334)

a) Transfer prices for inter-divisional sales are set on an arm’s length basis.
b) EBITDA: Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation. This corresponds to operating profit before

depreciation and amortisation.
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8. Employee benefits in millions of CHF

Amounts recognised in the income statement are as follows:
1999 1998

Wages and salaries 5,613 5,466
Social security costs 719 664
Post-employment benefits: defined benefit plans 322 384
Post-employment benefits: defined contribution plans 41 24
Other employee benefits 236 280
Total employees’ remuneration 6,931 6,818

The number of employees at the year-end was 67,695 (1998: 66,707). 

Post-employment benefits
Most employees are covered by retirement benefit plans sponsored by Group companies. The
nature of such plans varies according to legal regulations, fiscal requirements and economic con-
ditions of the countries in which the employees are employed. Other post-employment benefits
consist mostly of post-retirement healthcare and life insurance schemes, principally in the USA.
Plans are usually funded by payments from the Group and by employees to trusts independent of
the Group’s finances. Where a plan is unfunded, a liability for the whole obligation is recorded in
the Group’s balance sheet.

The revised International Accounting Standard on Employee Benefits requires that, when first
implementing the standard, the Group records previously unrecognised actuarial gains and
losses. Accordingly the Group has recorded on 1 January 1999 a net increase in recognised sur-
plus on defined benefit post-employment plans of 39 million Swiss francs, together with the
related deferred tax liability of 12 million Swiss francs. The net effect of 27 million Swiss francs
has been recorded in the statement of income in the current year. 

The amounts recognised in the income statement for post-employment defined benefit plans are
as follows:

1999 1998

Current service cost 311 306
Interest cost 677 679
Expected return on plan assets (645) (614)
Net actuarial (gains) losses recognised – 7
Past service cost 7 3
(Gains) losses on curtailment (28) 3
Total included in employees’ remuneration 322 384

The actual return on plan assets was 932 million Swiss francs (1998: 748 million Swiss francs).
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The movements in the net asset (liability) recognised in the balance sheet for post-employment
defined benefit plans are as follows:

1999 1998

At the beginning of the year
– as previously reported (as below) (2,107) (1,931)
– effect of implementing the revised International 
– Accounting Standard for Employee Benefits 39 –
– as restated (2,068) (1,931)

Changes in Group organisation (4) –
Total expenses included in employees’ remuneration (as above) (322) (384)
Contributions paid 165 200
Benefits paid (unfunded plans) 125 104
Currency translation effects and other 26 (96)
At the end of the year (as below) (2,078) (2,107)

Amounts recognised in the balance sheet for post-employment defined benefit plans are as
follows: 

1999 1998

Unfunded plans
Recognised asset (liability) for actuarial present value 
of unfunded obligations due to past and present employees (2,648) (2,429)

Funded plans
Actuarial present value of funded obligations
due to past and present employees (9,028) (8,333)
Plan assets held in trusts at fair value 10,046 8,950
Plan assets in excess of actuarial present value 
of funded obligations 1,018 617

Less
– unrecognised actuarial (gains) losses (467) (307)
– unrecognised past service costs 19 12
Recognised asset (liability) for funded obligations 
due to past and present employees 570 322

Asset (liability) recognised
Deficit recognised as part of liabilities for post-employment benefits (2,764) (2,495)

Surplus recognised as part of other long-term assets (see Note 15) 686 388
Total net asset (liability) recognised (2,078) (2,107)

The above amounts include non-pension post-employment benefit schemes, principally medical
plans, with an actuarial present value of obligations of 703 million Swiss francs (1998: 666 million
Swiss francs) and plan assets of 576 million Swiss francs (1998: 460 million Swiss francs).
The related net liability recognised is 190 million Swiss francs (1998: 314 million Swiss francs).
Actuarial gains of 63 million Swiss francs (1998: 108 million Swiss francs) were unrecognised.

Amounts recognised in the balance sheet for post-employment defined benefit plans are pre-
dominantly non-current and are reported as long-term assets and non-current liabilities. 
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Included within the fair value of the assets of the funded plans are 1,700 non-voting equity
securities issued by the Group with a fair value of 32 million Swiss francs (1998: none). 

The Group operates defined benefit schemes in many countries and the actuarial assumptions
vary based upon local economic and social conditions. The range of assumptions used in the
actuarial valuations of the most significant defined benefit plans, which are in countries with
stable currencies and interest rates, is as follows:

Discount rates 3 to 8% (1998: 4 to 7%)
Projected rates of remuneration growth 2.5 to 9% (1998: 2.5 to 9%)
Expected rates of return on plan assets 3.5 to 10% (1998: 4.5 to 9.5%)
Healthcare cost trend rate 4 to 9% (1998: 5 to 7.5%)

9. Other operating income (expense), net in millions of CHF

1999 1998

Royalty income 504 493
Other operating income 826 776
Total other operating income 1,330 1,269

Royalty expense (561) (417)
Restructuring expense (4) (68)
Other operating expense (751) (1,009)
Total other operating expense (1,316) (1,494)

Total other operating income (expense), net 14 (225)

10. Financial income (expense), net in millions of CHF

1999 1998

Gains from sale of marketable securities and other 2,529 1,946
Losses from sale of marketable securities and other (621) (560)
Net gain from sale of marketable securities and other 1,908 1,386
Interest and dividend income 532 568
Interest expense (1,237) (1,226)
Exchange gains (losses), net (69) 355
Total financial income (expense), net 1,134 1,083

11. Income taxes in millions of CHF

Income tax expenses
The amounts charged in the income statement are as follows: 

1999 1998

Current income taxes 1,103 610
Deferred income taxes 799 355
Total charge for income taxes 1,902 965

The Group’s parent company, Roche Holding Ltd, and many of the Group’s operating companies
are domiciled in Switzerland. The maximum effective rate of all income taxes on companies
domiciled in Basel, Switzerland, is 8% for holding companies and 25% for operating companies.
(1998: 8% and 25%).

Since the Group operates across the world, it is liable for income taxes in many different tax
jurisdictions. The Group calculates its average expected tax rate as a weighted average of the tax
rates in the tax jurisdictions in which the Group operates. 



72 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Group’s effective tax rate differs from the Group’s expected tax rate as follows:
1999 1998

Group’s average expected tax rate 20% 20%

Tax effect of
– Income not taxable (2%) (2%)
– Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 3% 3%
– Benefit of prior year tax losses not previously recognised – (1%)
– Other differences (3%) (2%)
– Gain from sales of Genentech shares 2% –
– Vitamin case 6% –
– Genentech legal settlements (1%) –
Group’s effective tax rate 25% 18%

Income tax assets and liabilities
Amounts recognised in the balance sheet for income taxes are as follows:

1999 1998

Current income taxes
Current income tax assets 408 476
Current income tax liabilities (728) (514)
Net current income tax asset (liability) in the balance sheet (320) (38)

Deferred income taxes
Deferred income tax assets 1,170 823
Deferred income tax liabilities (3,895) (1,979)
Net deferred income tax asset (liability) in the balance sheet (2,725) (1,156)

Amounts recognised in the balance sheet for deferred taxes are reported as long-term assets and
non-current liabilities, of which approximately 80% and 15% respectively is current. 

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry forwards only to the extent that
realisation of the related tax benefit is probable. The Group has no material unrecognised tax
losses. Deferred income tax liabilities have not been established for the withholding tax and other
taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings of certain foreign subsidiaries, as such
amounts are currently regarded as permanently reinvested. These unremitted earnings totalled
19.2 billion Swiss francs at 31 December 1999 (1998: 14.5 billion Swiss francs).

The deferred income tax assets and liabilities and the deferred income tax charges (credits) are
attributable to the following items:

Property, plant and Other
equipment, and Restructuring temporary 

1999 intangible assets provisions differences Total

Net deferred income tax asset (liability) at
beginning of year (2,030) 637 237 (1,156)
Adjustment from change in accounting policy –
employee benefits – – (12) (12)
(Charged) credited to the income statement (358) (363) (78) (799)
Changes in Group organisation (see Note 3) (646) – (89) (735)
Currency translation effects (94) 28 43 (23)
Net deferred income tax asset (liability)
at end of year (3,128) 302 101 (2,725)
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Property, plant and Other
equipment, and Restructuring temporary 

1998 intangible assets provisions differences Total

Net deferred income tax asset (liability) 
at beginning of year (2,035) 1,255 (62) (842)
(Charged) credited to the income statement (78) (587) 310 (355)
Currency translation effects 83 (31) (11) 41
Net deferred income tax asset (liability) 
at end of year (2,030) 637 237 (1,156)

12. Property, plant and equipment in millions of CHF

Buildings
and land Machinery
improve- and Construction 1999 1998

Land ments equipment in progress Total Total

Cost
At beginning of year 676 7,947 11,350 1,505 21,478 21,015
Currency translation effects 66 660 986 117 1,829 (478)
Changes in Group organisation 25 – – – 25 –
Additions 6 108 920 1,116 2,150 1,883
Disposals (45) (306) (854) (78) (1,283) (942)
Transfers 11 169 772 (952) – –
At end of year 739 8,578 13,174 1,708 24,199 21,478

Accumulated depreciation
At beginning of year – (2,695) (6,079) – (8,774) (8,335)
Currency translation effects – (192) (516) – (708) 185
Changes in Group organisation – – – – – –
Depreciation for the year – (210) (1,036) – (1,246) (1,143)
Disposals – 153 616 – 769 519
At end of year – (2,944) (7,015) – (9,959) (8,774)

Net book value
At beginning of year 676 5,252 5,271 1,505 12,704 12,680
At end of year 739 5,634 6,159 1,708 14,240 12,704

At 31 December 1999 the capitalised cost of machinery and equipment under finance leases
amounts to 317 million Swiss francs (1998: 184 million Swiss francs) and the net book value of
these assets amounts to 231 million Swiss francs (1998: 75 million Swiss francs).

Operating lease commitments
At 31 December the future minimum payments under non-cancellable operating leases were as
follows:

1999 1998

Within one year 184 158
Between one and five years 352 301
Thereafter 104 134
Total minimum payments 640 593

Total rental expense in 1999 for all operating leases was 305 million Swiss francs 
(1998: 296 million Swiss francs).

The Group has no significant capital commitments for the purchase or construction of property,
plant and equipment.



74 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

13. Intangible assets in millions of CHF

Patents, licences,
trademarks 1999 1998

Goodwill and other Total Total

Cost
At beginning of year 2,562 11,353 13,915 13,739
Currency translation effects 221 858 1,079 (204)
Changes in Group organisation 3,188 2,128 5,316 –
Additions – 263 263 398
Disposals (166) (200) (366) (18)
At end of year 5,805 14,402 20,207 13,915

Accumulated amortisation
At beginning of year (255) (2,903) (3,158) (2,367)
Currency translation effects (12) (343) (355) 137
Changes in Group organisation – – – –
Amortisation for the year (211) (996) (1,207) (930)
Disposals 62 123 185 2
At end of year (416) (4,119) (4,535) (3,158)

Net book value
At beginning of year 2,307 8,450 10,757 11,372
At end of year 5,389 10,283 15,672 10,757

On 30 June 1999 the Group recorded additional goodwill of 3,188 million Swiss francs and other
intangibles of 2,128 million Swiss francs. These arose from the purchase accounting related to the
acquisition of the remaining outstanding Special Common Stock of Genentech (see Note 3).
In the six months to 31 December 1999, the amortisation charged in respect of these additional
intangible assets was 193 million Swiss francs. 

14. Investments in associated companies in millions of CHF

The Group has investments in associated companies as listed below. Equity investments in asso-
ciated companies have been accounted for using the equity method. 

Share of net income Balance sheet value
1999 1998 1999 1998

Laboratory Corporation of America
Holdings (USA) – ordinary stock (4) (21) 17 18

Other investments accounted for using the equity method – – 20 17
Total investments accounted for using the equity method (4) (21) 37 35

Laboratory Corporation of America Holdings (USA) –
non-voting convertible mandatorily redeemable 8.5%
preferred stock (at cost) 498 390
Total investments in associated companies 535 425

Laboratory Corporation of America Holdings
The Group has a non-controlling 47.6% interest (1998: 48.95%) in Laboratory Corporation of
America Holdings (LabCorp),  which operates clinical laboratories in the United States. 
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15. Other long-term assets in millions of CHF

1999 1998

Recognised surplus on funded pension plans (see Note 8) 686 388
Loans receivable 596 459
Prepaid employee benefits 375 313
Other 790 468
Total other long-term assets 2,447 1,628

Loans receivable comprise all loans to third parties with a term of over one year. Other long-term
assets consist of various assets not otherwise shown separately from which the Group expects
to derive economic benefits in over one year.

16. Inventories in millions of CHF

1999 1998

Raw materials and supplies 1,298 1,320
Work in process 575 440
Finished goods 4,942 3,860
Less: provision for slow moving and obsolete inventory (269) (231)
Total inventories 6,546 5,389

Inventories held at net realisable value have a carrying value of 25 million Swiss francs 
(1998: 18 million Swiss francs).

On 30 June 1999 the Group recorded a write-up of inventory of 298 million Swiss francs. This
arose from the purchase accounting related to the acquisition of the remaining outstanding
Special Common Stock of Genentech (see Note 3). By 31 December 1999, 140 million Swiss
francs of that amount had been recognised as cost of sales through the sale of inventory. The
remaining written-up inventory is expected to be sold during 2000. 

17. Accounts receivable – trade in millions of CHF

1999 1998

Accounts receivable 6,309 4,610
Notes receivable 123 145
Less: provision for doubtful accounts (254) (220)
Total accounts receivable – trade 6,178 4,535

At 31 December 1999, accounts receivable – trade include amounts denominated in US dollars
equivalent to 1.9 billion Swiss francs (1998: 1.4 billion Swiss francs) and amounts denominated in
euros and EMU currencies equivalent to 1.8 billion Swiss francs (1998: 1.5 billion Swiss francs).

18. Other current assets in millions of CHF

1999 1998

Accrued interest income 127 54
Prepaid expenses 1,122 536
Assets held for sale 367 –
Other receivables 1,017 879
Total other current assets 2,633 1,469

Assets held for sale include inventories, property, plant and equipment, and other long-term
assets of products identified for divestment in the following year. Discontinuing operations are
not reported here (see Note 7). 
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19. Cash and marketable securities in millions of CHF

1999 1998

Equity securities 12,593 7,250
Bonds and debentures 2,700 2,371
Money market instruments 1,521 4,453
Total marketable securities 16,814 14,074
Total cash 2,052 1,984
Total cash and marketable securities 18,866 16,058

Equity securities: These consist primarily of readily saleable securities.

Bonds and debentures: 
Contracted maturity Amount Range of interest rates

1999
Within one year 378 4.0–6.9%
Between one and five years 1,285 1.5–7.8%
Over five years 1,037 2.8–8.2%

1998
Within one year 780 5.0–7.4%
Between one and five years 651 4.5–6.8%
Over five years 940 3.5–5.1%

The weighted average interest rate is approximately 5.9% for the bonds and debentures
(1998: 4.6%).

Money market instruments: These generally have fixed interest rates ranging from 1.3% to
6.3% (1998: 1.2% to 5.3%) depending upon the currency in which they are denominated. They are
contracted to mature within one year of 31 December 1999.

As of 31 December 1999 the fair value of marketable securities is approximately 17.4 billion Swiss
francs (1998: approximately 14.4 billion Swiss francs).

20. Accrued and other current liabilities in millions of CHF

1999 1998

Deferred income 142 281
Accrued payroll and related items 668 565
Interest payable 302 167
Other accrued liabilities 2,276 1,855
Total accrued and other current liabilities 3,388 2,868

21. Equity

Share capital
At 31 December 1999 and 1998, the authorised and called-up share capital was 1,600,000 shares
with a nominal value of CHF 100 each.

Based on information available to Roche, a shareholders’ group with pooled voting rights, com-
prising the Hoffmann and Oeri-Hoffmann families, hold 800,200 shares as in the preceding year.
(This figure does not include any shares without pooled voting rights that are held outside the
group by individual members of the group.) There were no transactions with these individuals
other than those in the ordinary course of business.
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In principle the Group does not own its own shares. Exceptionally during 1999 the Group
acquired and shortly thereafter disposed of 10,000 shares at the same price. 

Non-voting equity securities (Genussscheine)
As of 31 December 1999 and 1998, 7,025,627 non-voting equity securities had been issued. Under
Swiss company law these non-voting equity securities have no nominal value, are not part of the
share capital and cannot be issued against a contribution which would be shown as an asset in
the balance sheet of Roche Holding Ltd. Each non-voting equity security confers the same rights
as any of the shares to participate in the net profit and any remaining proceeds from liquidation
following repayment of the nominal value of the shares and, if any, participation certificates.
In accordance with the law and the Articles of Incorporation of Roche Holding Ltd, the Company
is entitled at all times to exchange all or some of the non-voting equity securities into shares or
participation certificates. 

Dividends
On 20 April 1999 the shareholders approved the distribution of a dividend of CHF 87 per share
and non-voting equity security (1998: CHF 83) in respect of the 1998 business year. The dis-
tribution totalled 750 million Swiss francs (1998: 716 million Swiss francs), charged to retained
earnings and reserves in 1999.

Proposed special dividend
At the next Annual General Meeting, scheduled for 9 May 2000, the Group’s shareholders will be
asked to approve the spin-off of its Fragrances and Flavours Division (see Note 7), creating a
separate company outside the Roche Group. The company will operate under the Givaudan name.
The Givaudan shares will be distributed as a special dividend to holders of Roche shares and
non-voting equity securities.

22. Earnings per share and non-voting equity security

Basic and diluted earnings per share and non-voting equity security
The Group has financial instruments which would entitle the holder to receive only non-voting
equity securities that had been previously issued. There are no financial instruments or other
schemes that would oblige the Group to issue new shares. Therefore diluted earnings per share is
the same as basic earnings per share. 

1999 1998

Net income (millions of CHF) 5,764 4,392
Number of shares (thousands, see Note 21) 1,600 1,600
Number of non-voting equity securities (thousands, see Note 21) 7,026 7,026
Total (thousands) 8,626 8,626
Earnings per share and non-voting equity security (CHF) 668 509
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23. Minority interests in millions of CHF

1999 1998

At beginning of year 1,149 1,000
Acquisition of Genentech Special Common Stock (see Note 3) (1,298) –
Sales of Genentech shares (see Note 3) 2,892 –
Minority share of Group net income, net of tax (88) 76
Issue of shares to third parties 240 110
Currency translation effects and other 152 (37)
At end of year 3,047 1,149

Of which:
Genentech 2,993 1,113
Other 54 36
Total minority interests 3,047 1,149

Genentech
As of 31 December 1999 the minority interest of approximately 33.9% in Genentech is publicly
held by third parties in the form of 87.5 million shares. The Group’s transactions in Genentech
shares are described in Notes 3 and 29. 

At 31 December 1999 Genentech had options outstanding under its employee stock option plans
which entitled the holders on exercise of the options to purchase 20.8 million shares at prices
ranging from USD 24.06 to USD 85.88. Of these options outstanding 5.7 million were exercisable
at that date.

24. Debt in millions of CHF

1999 1998

Amounts due to banks and other financial institutions 5,157 5,425
Debt instruments 12,553 9,618
Capitalised lease obligations 213 197
Other borrowings 25 22
Total debt 17,948 15,262
Less: current portion of long-term debt (amounts due within one year) (1,986) (1,333)
Total long-term debt 15,962 13,929

Short-term debt totalling 5,702 million Swiss francs (1998: 4,799 million Swiss francs) consists
of the current portion of long-term debt, as shown in the above table, together with short-term
bank loans and overdrafts and other short-term debt amounting to 3,716 million Swiss francs
(1998: 3,466 million Swiss francs). 

Repayment terms of long-term debt
1999 1998

Within one year 1,986 1,333
Between one and two years 3,180 3,333
Between two and three years 1,359 1,640
Between three and four years 4,625 1,224
Between four and five years 2,718 3,356
Thereafter 4,080 4,376
Total long-term debt 17,948 15,262

The zero coupon US dollar exchangeable notes (see below) are reflected as due the first year that
the holders of the notes can request the Group to purchase the notes. 
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The fair value of long-term debt is 19.5 billion Swiss francs (1998: 17.1 billion Swiss francs). This
is calculated based upon the present value of the future cash flows on the instrument, discounted
at a market rate of interest for instruments with similar credit status and cash flows.

Amounts due to banks and other financial institutions
Interest rates on these amounts, which are primarily denominated in US dollars and EMU curren-
cies, average approximately 5% (1998: 6%). Repayment dates vary between 1 and 9 years.

Debt instruments
The carrying value of the Group’s debt instruments is given in the table below. Information
about issues of debt instruments after the balance sheet date is given in Note 29. Supplementary
information about the Group’s debt instruments, including redemption and conversion terms,
if any, is given on pages 92 to 93.

Economic 
interest rate if 

held to maturity 1999 1998

Swiss franc bonds
2% due 2003, principal 1.25 billion Swiss francs 1.78% 1,242 1,239
1.75% due 2008, principal 1 billion Swiss francs 2.66% 912 901

Japanese yen bonds
1% due 2002, principal 100 billion Japanese yen 5.19% 1,011 971

US dollar bonds
2.75% due 2000, principal 1 billion US dollars 6.20% 1,586 1,314
3.5% due 2001, principal 1 billion US dollars 8.60% 1,506 1,233
6.75% due 2009, principal 1 billion US dollars 6.75% 1,584 –

Zero coupon US dollar exchangeable notes
Due 2010, principal 2.15 billion US dollars 7.00% 1,618 1,282
Due 2012, principal 3 billion US dollars 6.375% 2,098 1,673

Swiss franc convertible bonds
Dividend-linked ‘Helveticus’ convertible bonds, due 2003,
principal 1 billion Swiss francs – 990 1,000

Limited conversion preferred stock – 6 5
Total debt instruments 12,553 9,618

The economic interest rate if held to maturity is the market rate of interest at the date of issuance
for a similar debt instrument, but with no conversion rights or discount upon issuance.

As of 31 December 1999, the Japanese yen denominated bonds are fully hedged by means of
foreign currency forward exchange contracts. The US dollar denominated bonds are not hedged,
as the bonds themselves are part of the Group’s hedging of its net investments denominated in
US dollars.

US dollar bonds
On 6 July 1999 the Group issued 6.75% ‘Chameleon’ bonds due on 6 July 2009 with an aggregate
principal amount of 1 billion US dollars. Net proceeds were 990 million US dollars (1,537 million
Swiss francs).
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Zero coupon US dollar exchangeable notes
The zero coupon US dollar exchangeable notes issued by the Group have options whereby, under
certain conditions as described on pages 92 to 93, the holders can request conversion of these
debt instruments into non-voting equity securities. The Group would meet this obligation by pur-
chasing the necessary amount of non-voting equity securities from those already issued. It is the
policy of the Group to provide or arrange various alternatives necessary to ultimately settle these
obligations.

Swiss franc convertible bonds
An annual payment distribution amount is paid on 31 July for each bond of CHF 9,530 par value
in the place of a fixed rate of interest. This annual payment distribution amount equals two times
the ordinary and/or extraordinary dividend declared on one non-voting equity security of Roche
Holding Ltd for the business year ended on 31 December which was nineteen months prior to
31 July for the relevant year. During 1999 bonds with a principal amount of 1 million Swiss francs
were redeemed at the option of the holders.

Unamortised discount
Included within the carrying value of debt instruments are the following unamortised discounts:

1999 1998

Swiss franc bonds 96 110
Japanese yen bonds 95 135
US dollar bonds 124 193
Zero coupon US dollar exchangeable notes 4,524 4,100
Swiss franc convertible bonds 9 13
Total unamortised discount 4,848 4,551

Obligations for warrants
The carrying value of outstanding warrants at 31 December 1999 is 80 million Swiss francs
(1998: 80 million Swiss francs). These were originally issued in 1998 with the 1.75% Swiss franc
bonds (see above) and are reported as part of other non-current liabilities. Supplementary
information about the Group’s warrants is given on pages 92 to 93.

25. Financial instruments in millions of CHF

In appropriate circumstances the Group uses financial instruments as part of its risk management
and trading strategies. This is discussed in Note 2. The majority of the derivative financial instru-
ments outstanding at the year-end consist of forward contracts entered into by foreign affiliates
for the purchase of currencies for settling intra-Group liabilities.

The notional principal values of derivative financial instruments held by the Group are shown in
the table below. These notional amounts do not represent the amounts actually exchanged by
the parties, and therefore are not a measure of the Group’s exposure. The table also shows the
carrying value and fair value of the Group’s derivative financial instruments. The carrying values
are those included in the consolidated balance sheet as either other current assets or accrued
liabilities.
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Notional principal Carrying
1999 amount Fair value value

Foreign currency derivatives 
– forward exchange contracts and swaps 7,933 (5) (49)
– options 6,088 4 101
Interest rate derivatives
– swaps 4,482 (48) 1
– other 633 (6) –
Other derivatives 1,807 210 189
Total derivative financial instruments 20,943 155 242

1998
Foreign currency derivatives
– forward exchange contracts and swaps 2,615 (4) (2)
– options 420 22 18
Interest rate derivatives
– swaps 2,828 (63) 3
– other 59 – –
Other derivatives 2,887 274 273
Total derivative financial instruments 8,809 229 292

The net unrecognised gains on open contracts which hedge future anticipated foreign currency
sales amounted to 44 million Swiss francs. These gains will be recognised in the income state-
ment when these open contracts mature at various dates up to one year from the balance sheet
date.

26. Provisions in millions of CHF

Restructuring Other 1999 1998
provisions provisions Total Total

Current portion of provisions 674 1,986 2,660 1,379
Non-current portions of provisions 74 1,620 1,694 1,973
Total provisions 748 3,606 4,354 3,352

Restructuring provisions
Restructuring provisions arise from fundamental reorganisations of the Group’s operations and
management structure. Significant restructuring efforts have resulted from recent acquisitions
and divestments, most notably for the acquisition of Corange Limited. A restructuring provision
for this and other matters of 3 billion Swiss francs was recognised in 1997. Of this 0.9 billion Swiss
francs was utilised in 1999 and 1.5 billion Swiss francs in 1998. 

Other provisions
These consist mainly of legal, environmental and similar matters as well as warranty obligations.
Other provisions include provisions in respect of the vitamin case (see Note 5).
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27. Contingent liabilities

The operations and earnings of the Group continue, from time to time and in varying degrees, to
be affected by political, legislative, fiscal and regulatory developments, including those relating to
environmental protection, in the countries in which it operates. The industries in which the Group
is engaged are also subject to physical risks of various kinds. The nature and frequency of these
developments and events, not all of which are covered by insurance, as well as their effect on
future operations and earnings are not predictable.

Provisions have been recorded in respect of the vitamin case, as disclosed in Note 5. These provi-
sions are the Group’s best current estimate of the total liability that may arise. As the various
investigations outside the United States of America and private civil suits are still in progress it is
possible that the ultimate liability may be different from this.

28. Cash flow statement in millions of CHF

Reference numbers in the tables in this note indicate corresponding Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash flows from operating activities are those derived from the Group’s primary activities, as
described in the divisional review. This is calculated in total by the indirect method, by adjusting
the Group’s operating profit for any operating income and expenses that are not cash flows
(for example depreciation and amortisation), and for movements in the Group’s working capital.

Effects of Genentech transactions, 
vitamin case and Genentech legal settlements 1999 1998

Gain on sale of Genentech shares3 (4,461)
Charge for vitamin case5 2,426 –
Charge for Genentech legal settlements6 345 –
Inventory write-up expensed during current year16 140 –
Total (1,550) –

Other adjustments for non-cash operating income and expense
Expense for defined benefit post-employment plans8 322 384
Other adjustments 297 (368)
Total 619 16

Cash flows from financing activities
Cash flows from financing activities are primarily the proceeds from issue and repayments of the
Group’s equity and debt instruments. They also include interest payments and dividend payments
on these instruments. Cash flows from short-term financing, including finance leases, are also
included. These cash flows indicate the Group’s transactions with the providers of its equity and
debt financing.

Cash flows from short-term borrowings are shown as a net movement, as these consist of a large
number of transactions with short maturity.
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Proceeds from issue of long-term debt (see also Note 29) 1999 1998

6.75% US dollar bonds due 200924 1,537 –
1.75% Swiss franc bonds due 200824 – 972
2% Swiss franc bonds due 200324 – 1,239
Long-term bank loans and other borrowings24 2,638 3,452
Total 4,175 5,663

Repayment of long-term debt
Repayment of dividend-linked Swiss francs convertible bonds24 (1) –
Repurchase of zero coupon US dollar exchangeable notes due 2008 – (619)
Repurchase of limited conversion preferred stock – (3)
Repayment of US dollar promissory notes – (493)
Long-term bank loans and other borrowings24 (3,688) (955)
Total (3,689) (2,070)

Interest and dividends paid
Interest paid (686) (803)
Dividends paid (750) (716)
Total (1,436) (1,519)

Cash flows for investing activities
Cash flows for investing activities are principally those arising from the Group’s investments in
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, and from the acquisition and divestment of
subsidiaries, associated companies and businesses. Cash flows connected with the Group’s
portfolio of marketable securities and other investments are also included as are any interest and
dividend payments received in respect of these securities and investments. These cash flows
indicate the Group’s net reinvestment in its operating assets and the cash flow effects of the
changes in Group organisation, as well as the cash generated by the Group’s other investments.

Cash flows from marketable securities, including income and capital gains and losses, are shown
as a net movement on the Group’s portfolio, as these consist of a large number of positions which
are not held on a long-term basis. 

Investments in subsidiaries and associated companies 1999 1998

Acquisition of Genentech Special Common Stock3 (6,222) –
Payment in 1998 for acquisition of Corange in 1997 – (14,789)
Total (6,222) (14,789)

Divestments of businesses
Proceeds on sales of Genentech shares3 7,353 –
Divestment of DePuy3 – 3,890
Other divestments3 – 760
Total 7,353 4,650

Interest and dividends received
Interest received 303 455
Dividends received 156 25
Total 459 480
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29. Subsequent events

Issue of bonds exchangeable into Genentech shares
On 19 January 2000 the Group issued zero coupon US dollar exchangeable notes due 19 January
2015 with a principal amount of 1,506 million US dollars. The notes are exchangeable into shares
of the Group’s subsidiary Genentech at any time prior to maturity. Supplementary information
about the Group’s debt instruments, including redemption and conversion terms, is given on
pages 92 to 93. If all of the notes were exchanged into Genentech shares, the Group’s percentage
of ownership of Genentech would decrease by 2.5%.

Net proceeds from the issue were 980 million US dollars (1,562 million Swiss francs). In accordance
with the International Accounting Standard ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation’
these will be initially allocated as 2,369 million Swiss francs of debt, 1,094 million Swiss francs
of unamortised discount, 172 million Swiss francs of minority interest and 115 million Swiss francs
of deferred tax liability.

Sale of Genentech shares
On 15 March 2000 the Group announced that it would offer for sale a further 17.3 million shares
of Genentech, with an option to buy a further 1.7 million shares to cover over-allotments.
The offering price is USD 163 per share. Assuming the over-allotment option is not exercised,
the expected total proceeds, before incidental costs, are 2.8 billion US dollars. Based on the
exchange rate at 27 March 2000, this is equivalent to 4.6 billion Swiss francs. As a result of this
offering, Roche’s ownership interest in Genentech will be reduced from approximately 66% to
approximately 59%. If the over-allotment option is exercised, Roche’s ownership will be reduced
to approximately 58%. The successful relationship between Roche and Genentech remains
unchanged by this transaction. This includes the continuation of all agreements covering products
outside of the US, both on the market and in development.
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Report of the Group Auditors

To the General Meeting of Roche Holding Ltd, Basel

As auditors of the Group, we have audited the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Roche
Group on pages 53 to 84 for the year ended 31 December 1999. These Consolidated Financial
Statements are the responsibility of the Board of Directors of Roche Holding Ltd. Our responsi-
bility is to express an opinion on these Consolidated Financial Statements based on our audit.
We confirm that we meet the Swiss legal requirements concerning professional qualification and
independence.

Our audit was conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing issued by the
International Federation of Accountants. These standards require that an audit be planned and
performed to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Consolidated Financial Statements
are free from material misstatement. We have examined on a test basis evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the Consolidated Financial Statements. We have also assessed the
accounting principles used, significant estimates made and the overall Consolidated Financial
Statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the Consolidated Financial Statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position at 31 December 1999, and the results of operations and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with International Accounting Standards, and comply with relevant
Swiss law.

We recommend that the Consolidated Financial Statements submitted to you be approved.

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG

William D. Kirst Ralph R. Reinertsen

Basel, 27 March 2000



Statistics 1990 a) 1991

Statements of income in millions of CHF

Sales 9,670 11,451
EBITDA 1,890 2,208
Operating profit 1,369 1,386
Net income 948 1,482
Research and development 1,444 1,727
Balance sheets in millions of CHF

Long-term assets 6,937 8,478
Current assets 15,880 16,567
Total assets 22,817 25,045
Equity 13,243 14,429
Minority interests 446 511
Non-current liabilities 5,799 7,029
Current liabilities 3,329 3,076
Additions to property, plant and equipment 907 1,139
Personnel
Number of employees at end of year 52,685 55,134
Key Ratios
Net income as % of sales 10 13
Net income as % of equity 7 10
Research and development as % of sales 15 15
Current ratio % 477 539
Equity and minority interests as % of total assets 60 60
Sales per employee in thousands of CHF 184 208
Data on shares and non-voting equity securities
Number of shares 800,000 1,600,000
Number of non-voting equity securities (Genussscheine) 3,330,134 7,025,627
Total shares and non-voting equity securities 4,130,134 8,625,627
Total dividend in millions of CHF 173 236
Net income per share and non-voting equity security in CHF 115 172
Dividend per share and non-voting equity security in CHF 21 28
Cash and warrants in addition to dividend (adjusted) in CHF – 13
Cash and warrants in addition to dividend (unadjusted) in CHF – 25

a) Net income and dividend per share and non–voting equity security information has been adjusted for capital changes including stock
split and stock dividends and restated to take account of the issue of shares and non–voting equity securities in November 1991.

b) If 1991 warrants held to final exercise date.
c) In addition to the normal dividend, the shareholders approved for each share and each non–voting equity security a special

RO 100 centenary warrant worth CHF 36 on date of issue or, at the holder’s option, a cash equivalent of CHF 36.

86 Multi-Year Overview

Multi-Year Overview



1992 1993 1994 1995 1996 1997d) 1998 1999f)

12,953 14,315 14,748 14,722 15,966 18,767 24,662 27,567
2,893 3,278 3,635 4,194 4,744 5,194 6,444 7,324
2,013 2,348 2,656 3,075 3,535 3,708 4,371 5,064
1,916 2,478 2,860 3,372 3,899 4,277 4,392 5,031
1,998 2,269 2,332 2,290 2,446 2,903 3,408 3,782

9,293 9,522 13,549 12,848 15,487 27,964 27,952 30,419
18,290 21,404 22,684 22,716 24,289 25,396 27,927 34,298
27,583 30,926 36,233 35,564 39,776 53,360 55,879 64,717
16,046 17,914 16,422 17,554 20,780 18,250 21,666 26,353

581 625 861 667 835 1,000 1,149 1,246
6,809 7,921 10,034 11,686 12,727 19,669 21,416 24,362
4,147 4,466 8,916 5,657 5,434 14,441 11,648 12,756
1,293 1,407 1,355 1,490 1,624 1,802 1,883 2,150

56,335 56,082 61,381 50,497 48,972 51,643 66,707 67,695

15 17 19 23 24 23 18 18
12 14 17 19 19 17 20 19
15 16 16 16 15 15 14 14

441 479 254 402 447 176 240 269
60 60 48 51 54 36 41 43

230 255 240 292 326 363 370 407

1,600,000 1,600,000 1,600,000 1,600,000 1,600,000 1,600,000 1,600,000 1,600,000
7,025,627 7,025,627 7,025,627 7,025,627 7,025,627 7,025,627 7,025,627 7,025,627
8,625,627 8,625,627 8,625,627 8,625,627 8,625,627 8,625,627 8,625,627 8,625,627

312 404 474 552 647 716 750 863g)

222 287 332 391 452 496 509 583
37 48 55 64 c) 75 83 87 100g)

– – 77 b) – 36 – 190e) –
– – 153b) – 36 – 190e) –
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d) 1997 net income and related key ratios are shown before special charges and include Corange only in respect of balance sheet
data.

e) If 1996 warrants held to final exercise date.
f) The 1999 figures and key ratios are adjusted to show the situation as if the Genentech transactions, the vitamin case and

the Genentech legal settlements had not taken place.
g) Dividend 1999 as proposed by the Board of Directors. This does not include the proposed special dividend relating to the spin-off

of the Fragrances and Flavours Division.
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Sales by division in millions of CHF

1995 1996 1997 1998 1999

Pharmaceuticals 9,246 10,460 12,070 14,376 16,487
Diagnostics 936 757 966 4,616 5,282
Vitamins and Fine Chemicals 3,057 3,329 3,803 3,630 3,649
Fragrances and Flavours 1,437 1,414 1,928 2,040 2,149
Others 46 6 – – –
Total 14,722 15,966 18,767 24,662 27,567

Sales by geographical area in millions of CHF

Switzerland 290 291 320 445 455
European Union 4,563 4,923 5,588 8,799 9,326
Rest of Europe 566 635 841 1,017 1,090
Europe 5,419 5,849 6,749 10,261 10,871
North America 5,406 5,946 6,974 8,698 10,130
Latin America 1,348 1,568 1,991 2,455 2,577
Asia 2,029 2,003 2,333 2,453 3,109
Africa, Australia and Oceania 520 600 720 795 880
Total 14,722 15,966 18,767 24,662 27,567

Additions to property, plant and equipment by division in millions of CHF

Pharmaceuticals 984 1,156 1,204 858 963
Diagnostics 80 72 128 439 568
Vitamins and Fine Chemicals 303 282 394 442 450
Fragrances and Flavours 100 84 71 144 165
Others 23 30 5 – 4
Total 1,490 1,624 1,802 1,883 2,150

Additions to property, plant and equipment by geographical area in millions of CHF

Switzerland 389 366 307 295 335
European Union 331 420 457 703 826
Rest of Europe 5 6 13 28 30
Europe 725 792 777 1,026 1,191
North America 577 650 793 591 668
Latin America 68 40 74 98 133
Asia 106 129 138 141 124
Africa, Australia and Oceania 14 13 20 27 34
Total 1,490 1,624 1,802 1,883 2,150
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Boehringer Mannheim (Far East) Pte. Ltd., Singapore
Boehringer Mannheim France Holding S.A., Meylan, France
Corange Deutschland Holding GmbH, Mannheim, Germany
Corange Ltd., Hamilton, Bermuda
Givaudan Roure (International) S.A., Vernier, Switzerland
Givaudan Roure (United States) Inc., Wilmington, Delaware, USA
Hoffmann-La Roche France S.A., Neuilly-sur-Seine, France
Roche Capital Corporation, Panama City, Panama
Roche Capital Market International Limited, St. Peter Port, Guernsey
Roche Capital Transactions Limited, Hamilton, Bermuda
Roche (China) Limited, Shanghai, China
Roche Deutschland Holding GmbH, Grenzach-Wyhlen, Germany
Roche Financial Management, Inc., Panama City, Panama
Roche Financial Products Limited, Hamilton, Bermuda
Roche Finanz AG, Basel, Switzerland
Roche Holding (UK) Limited, Welwyn Garden City, Great Britain
Roche Holdings, Inc., Wilmington, Delaware, USA
Roche International Finance Corporation Limited, St. Peter Port, Guernsey
Roche International Ltd., Hamilton, Bermuda
Roche Kapitalmarkt AG, Basel, Switzerland
Roche Pharmholding B.V., Mijdrecht, Netherlands
Sapac Corporation, Ltd., Montevideo, Uruguay
Syntex Corporation, Panama City, Panama

The above companies are wholly owned by the Group. 

Holding and Finance Companies
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Price development of share in CHF

Roche share Swiss Market Index (adjusted)
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100 Roche American Depositary Receipts (ADRs) are equivalent to one non-voting equity security (Genussschein). 
ADRs have been traded in the United States over-the-counter market since July 1992.
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Number of shares and non-voting equity securitiesa)

1995 1996 1997 1998 1999

Number of shares 
(nominal value CHF 100) 1,600,000 1,600,000 1,600,000 1,600,000 1,600,000
Number of non-voting equity securities
(Genussscheine) (no nominal value) 7,025,627 7,025,627 7,025,627 7,025,627 7,025,627
Total 8,625,627 8,625,627 8,625,627 8,625,627 8,625,627

Data per share and non-voting equity securityb) in CHF

Net income 391 452 496d) 509 583 e)

Equity 2,035 2,409 2,116 2,512 3,055 e)

Dividend 64c) 75 83 87 100 f)

Stock price of share High 16,150 17,000 23,700 27,000 28,100
Low 10,800 14,000 15,025 21,200 24,950
Year-end 16,150 15,100 22,500 24,875 26,000

Stock price of non-voting High 9,170 10,495 14,835 17,655 19,355
equity security Low 6,245 8,695 10,415 13,500 15,980
(Genussscheine) Year-end 9,125 10,415 14,505 16,760 18,900

Market capitalisation in millions of CHF

Year-end 89,949 97,332 137,907 157,550 174,384

Key ratios (year-end)
Net income as % of equity 19 19 17d) 20 19 e)

Dividend yield of shares in % 0.4 0.5 0.4 0.3 0.4
Dividend yield of non-voting equity 
securities (Genussscheine) in % 0.7 0.7 0.6 0.5 0.5
Price/earnings of shares 41 33 45 49 45
Price/earnings of non-voting 
equity securities(Genussscheine) 23 23 29 33 32

a) Each non-voting equity security (Genussschein) confers the same rights as any of the shares to participate in the
available earnings and any remaining proceeds from liquidation following repayment of the nominal value of the shares
and the participation certificate capital (if any). Shares and non-voting equity securities are listed on the Swiss
Exchange. Roche Holding Ltd has no restrictions as to ownership of its shares or non-voting equity securities.

b) All stock price data reflect daily closing prices.
c) For 1995, in addition to the normal dividend, the shareholders approved for each share and each non-voting equity

security a special RO 100 centenary warrant worth CHF 36 on date of issue or, at the holder’s option, a cash equivalent
of CHF 36.

d) 1997 net income and related key ratios are shown before special charges. Net loss after special charges amounts
to CHF 235 per share and non-voting equity security.

e) 1999 net income, equity and related key ratios are adjusted to show the situation as if the Genentech transactions,
the vitamin case and the Genentech legal settlements had not taken place. On an unadjusted basis net income amounts
to CHF 668 and equity to CHF 3,125 per share and non-voting equity security.

f) 1999 dividend as proposed by the Board of Directors. This does not include the proposed special dividend relating to
the spin-off of the Fragrances and Flavours Division. 

Ticker symbols

Share Non-voting American 
equity security Depositary Receipt

Reuters ROCZ.S ROCZg.S ROHHY.PK
Bloomberg RO SW ROG SW ROHHY US
SWX Swiss Exchange RO ROG –
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Outstanding bonds

Summarised bond terms

‘Bull Spread’ 1991 to 16 May 2001
Face value: USD 1,000,000,000
Coupon: 3.5%
Issuer: Roche Holdings, Inc.
Keep well: Roche Holding Ltd
Attached warrants: relating to Roche 
bearer shares

‘Knock Out’ 1993 to 14 April 2000
Face value: USD 1,000,000,000
Coupon: 2.75%
Issuer: Roche Holdings, Inc.
Keep well: Roche Holding Ltd
Attached warrants: relating to Roche
non-voting equity securities
(Genussscheine)

‘Samurai’ 1994 to 15 May 2002
Face value: JPY 100 billion
Coupon: 1% 
Issuer: Roche Financial Management, Inc.
Keep well: Roche Holding Ltd
Attached warrants: relating to Roche 
non-voting equity securities
(Genussscheine)

‘LYONs’ 1995 to 20 April 2010
Face value: USD 2,150,000,000
Coupon: Zero
Issuer: Roche Holdings, Inc.
Keep well: Roche Holding Ltd
Exchange right: Roche ADSs

‘Helveticus’ 1995 to 31 July 2003
Face value: CHF 1,000,650,000
Coupon: 2 times ordinary and/or extra-
ordinary dividend on Roche non-voting 
equity securities 
Issuer: Roche Capital Market International 
Limited
Keep well: Roche Holding Ltd
Conversion right: Roche non-voting equity 
securities (Genussscheine)

Exchange terms

The warrants were exercised on 16 May 1994. Each holder of
100 warrants received CHF 10,000 in cash.

The warrants were exercised on 22 May 1996. Each holder of
60 warrants received CHF 6,000 in cash. 

The warrants were exercised on 15 June 1998. Each holder of
100 warrants received CHF 7,100 in cash.

The Notes are exchangeable for American Depositary Shares
(ADSs) at an adjusted exchange ratio of 4.76142 exchange
ADSs per USD 1,000 principal amount at maturity of the Notes.
The exchange ratio was changed in accordance with the inden-
ture agreement, dated 20 April 1995 with an effective date of
5 June 1996. The Group will purchase any Note for cash, at the
option of the holder, on 20 April 2003 for a purchase price
per USD 1,000 principal amount of the Notes of USD 617.78. In
addition, the Notes will be redeemable at the option of the
Group in whole or in part at any time after 20 April 2003 at the
issue price plus accrued original issue discount (OID).

Each bond of CHF 9,530 par value is exchangeable for one non-
voting equity security of Roche Holding Ltd at any time during
the life of the bond. In accordance with the terms of the bonds
an additional cash payment of CHF 36 is made upon conversion
of each bond of CHF 9,530 par value.
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Outstanding bonds

Summarised bond terms

‘LYONs’ 1997 to 6 May 2012
Face value: USD 3,000,000,000
Coupon: Zero
Issuer: Roche Holdings, Inc.
Keep well: Roche Holding Ltd
Exchange right: Roche American 
Depositary Shares 

‘Rodeo’ 1998 to 20 March 2008
Face value: CHF 1,000,000,000
Coupon: 1.75% 
Issuer: Roche Kapitalmarkt AG
Keep well: Roche Holding Ltd
Attached warrants: Roche 
non-voting equity securities
(Genussscheine)

‘Bullet’ 1998 to 21 March 2003
Face value: CHF 1,250,000,000
Coupon: 2% 
Issuer: Roche International Finance 
Corporation Limited
Keep well: Roche Holding Ltd

‘Chameleon’ 1999 to 6 July 2009
Face value: USD 1,000,000,000
Coupon: 6.75%
Issuer: Roche Holdings, Inc.
Keep well: Roche Holding Ltd

‘LYONs’ 2000 to 19 January 2015
Face value: USD 1,506,342,000
Coupon: Zero
Issuer: Roche Holdings, Inc.
Keep well: Roche Holding Ltd
Exchange right: 
Genentech common stock

Exchange terms

The Notes are exchangeable for American Depositary Shares
(ADSs) at an exchange ratio of 3.56264 exchange ADSs per
USD 1,000 principal amount at maturity of the Notes. The Group
will purchase any Note for cash, at the option of the holder, on
6 May 2004 and 6 May 2008 for a purchase price per USD 1,000
principal amount of the Notes of USD 605.29 and USD 778.01,
respectively. In addition, the Notes will be redeemable at the
option of the Group in whole or in part at any time after 6 May
2004 at the issue price plus accrued original issue discount (OID).

100 warrants entitle the holder on 20 March 2001 (the exercise date):
(a) to receive a cash payment of CHF 2,000 if the average closing
price of the non-voting equity security in the period 14–20 March
2001 (‘the relevant price’) is at least CHF 21,000
or
(b) at the option of the Group:
(i) to receive a cash payment equal to the difference between
‘the relevant price’ and CHF 19,000 if ‘the relevant price’ is
between CHF 19,000 and CHF 21,000, or
(ii) to buy one non-voting equity security at the exercise price of
CHF 19,000.

–

–

The Notes are exchangeable for Genentech shares at an
exchange ratio of 4.32658 Genentech shares per USD 1,000
principal amount at maturity of the Notes. The Group has the
right to pay cash equal to the market value of the Genentech
shares in lieu of delivering Genentech shares. The Group
will purchase any Note for cash, at the option of the holder,
on 19 January 2004 and 19 January 2010 for a purchase price
per USD 1,000 principal amount of the Notes of USD 740.49
and USD 872.35, respectively. In addition, the Notes will be
redeemable at the option of the Group in whole or in part at
any time after 19 January 2004 at the issue price plus accrued
original issue discount (OID).
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Income statements in millions of CHF

1999 1998

Income
Income from participations 1,133 916
Interest income from loans to Group companies 36 50
Interest and investment income 22 45
Other income 6 77
Total income 1,197 1,088

Expense
Financial expense (1) (17)
Administration expense (14) (14)
Other expense (10) (22)
Total expense (25) (53)

Profit for the year before taxes 1,172 1,035

Taxes (7) (13)

Net profit for the year 1,165 1,022

Financial Statements

Roche Holding Ltd, Basel



Financial Statements 95

Balance sheets at 31 December in millions of CHF

1999 1998
Long-term assets
Participations 3,940 3,913
Loans to Group companies 727 774
Total long-term assets 4,667 4,687

Current assets
Accounts receivable from Group companies 1,630 712
Other accounts receivable 156 265
Prepaid expenses and accrued income 1 1
Marketable securities 7 22
Liquid funds 726 791
Total current assets 2,520 1,791

Total assets 7,187 6,478

Equity
Share capital 160 160
Non-voting equity securities (Genussscheine) p.m. p.m.
General legal reserve 300 300
Free reserve 3,019 2,750
Special reserve 2,168 2,168
Available earnings:
– Balance brought forward from previous year 10 8
– Net profit for the year 1,165 1,022
Total equity 6,822 6,408

Non-current liabilities
Provisions 75 54
Total non-current liabilities 75 54

Current liabilities
Accounts payable to Group companies 286 6
Other liabilities 1 6
Accrued liabilities 3 4
Total current liabilities 290 16

Total liabilities 365 70

Total equity and liabilities 7,187 6,478

p.m = pro memoria. Non-voting equity securities have no nominal value.
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General

The financial statements of Roche Holding Ltd, Basel, are prepared in accordance with the provi-
sions of Swiss company law and accepted business principles.

Valuation methods and translation of foreign currencies

In the balance sheet, assets and liabilities are translated at year-end exchange rates. Exceptions
to this rule are marketable securities, which are shown at the lower of cost or market value,
and participations, which are shown at their acquisition values less appropriate write-downs.
Unrealised foreign currency gains on balance sheet items are deferred. Expenses and income,
as well as foreign currency transactions, are translated at exchange rates ruling at the relevant
transaction dates.

Details to specific items

Income
Total income of 1,197 million Swiss francs in 1999 is 109 million Swiss francs higher than in the
previous year due to better operating but also because of increased financial income.

Taxes
The tax charge includes corporate income and capital taxes, withholding taxes and stamp duty.
Total taxes of 7 million Swiss francs (previous year 13 million Swiss francs) are lower mainly due
to lower withholding taxes.

Equity
Total equity equals 95% of total assets.

Share capital
As in the previous year share capital amounts to 160 million Swiss francs. It consists of 1,600,000
bearer shares with a nominal value of CHF 100 each.

Non-voting equity securities
There are 7,025,627 non-voting equity securities (Genussscheine) with no nominal value.

Guarantees
Guarantees in favour of Group companies total 8 million Swiss francs (previous year 5 million
Swiss francs).

A guarantee relative to Genentech, Inc. ‘Put-Rights’ valued at 3.6 billion Swiss francs expired
unused in July 1999.

At the time of preparing the balance sheet no risks arising out of these contingent liabilities were
discernible.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Pledged assets
Assets with a total book value of 7 million Swiss francs (previous year 22 million Swiss francs)
have been pledged as security for the Company’s own commitments.

Participations
The major participations are listed on pages 89 and 102 to 103.

Transactions with Roche shares
In principle the Roche Group does not own its own shares. Exceptionally during 1999 the Group
acquired and shortly thereafter disposed of 10,000 Roche shares at the same price.

Important shareholders
All shares in the Company have been issued to bearer, and for this reason the Company does not
keep a register of shareholders. The following figures are based on the shareholder validation
check at the Annual General Meeting of 20 April 1999 and on other information available to the
Company.

800,200 (previous year 800,200) shares: Shareholders’ group with pooled voting rights, comprising
the Hoffmann and Oeri-Hoffmann families.a)

178,901 (previous year 0) shares: BZ Gruppe Holding AG, Wilen, Switzerland.b)

80,000 (previous year 226,475) shares: Pharma Vision 2000 AG, Glarus, Switzerland.c)

a) Information confirmed by the shareholders as of 31 December 1999. This figure of 800,200 shares does not include
shares without pooled voting rights held outside the group by individual members of the group.

b) Figures as of 31 December 1999 from the 1999 Annual Report of BZ Gruppe Holding AG.
c) Figures as of 31 December 1999 from the 1999 Annual Report of Pharma Vision 2000 AG.
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Proposals to the General Meeting in CHF

1999 1998

Available earnings
Net profit for the year 1,164,667,191 1,022,055,249
Balance brought forward from previous year 9,991,059 8,365,359 
Total available earnings 1,174,658,250 1,030,420,608 

Appropriation of available earnings
Distribution of an ordinary dividend of CHF 100 gross 
per share and non-voting equity security (Genussschein)
as against CHF 87 last year (862,562,700) (750,429,549)
Distribution of a special dividend of CHF 15.39 gross
for allocating one share of Givaudan Ltd for each share
and non-voting equity security (132,748,400) –
Transfer to free reserve (173,744,390) (270,000,000)
Total appropriation of available earnings (1,169,055,490) (1,020,429,549)

To be carried forward on this account 5,602,760 9,991,059 

Appropriation of Available Earnings
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Report of the Statutory Auditors

To the General Meeting of Roche Holding Ltd, Basel

As statutory auditors we have audited the accounting records and the financial statements
(income statement, balance sheet and notes, pages 94 to 97) of Roche Holding Ltd, Basel, for the
year ended 31 December 1999.

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Board of Directors. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We confirm that we meet
the legal requirements concerning professional qualification and independence.

Our audit was conducted in accordance with auditing standards promulgated by the profession,
which require that an audit be planned and performed in such a manner as to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. We have
examined on a test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial state-
ments. We have also assessed the accounting principles used, significant estimates made and
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis
for our opinion.

In our opinion, the accounting records, the financial statements and the proposed appropriation
of available earnings comply with the law and the company’s articles of incorporation.

We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be approved.

ATAG Ernst & Young Ltd

Andreas Müller Philipp Schaffter

Basel, 27 March 2000
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Honduras
Hungary
India
Indonesia
Ireland
Israel
Italy
Japan
Malaysia
Mexico
Morocco
The Netherlands
New Zealand
Nicaragua
Norway
Pakistan
Panama
Peru
Philippines
Poland
Portugal
Puerto Rico
Russia
Singapore
Slovakia

• •
• •
• •

•
• •

• • • • •
• •

• • • •
• • • •

• •

South Africa
South Korea
Spain
Sweden
Taiwan
Thailand
Turkey
Uruguay
USA
Venezuela
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Switzerland: F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd,
Basel | Roche Ltd, Sisseln | Teranol Ltd,
Lalden | Roche Pharma (Switzerland) Ltd,
Reinach | Roche Diagnostics (Schweiz)
Ltd, Rotkreuz | Roche Diagnostics Inter-
national Ltd, Cham | Roche Vitamins
Europe Ltd, Birsfelden | Givaudan Roure
S.A., Vernier | Givaudan Roure Flavours
Ltd., Dübendorf | Givaudan Roure
Research Ltd., Dübendorf | Tegimenta
AG, Rotkreuz | Roche Consumer Health
Ltd, Kaiseraugst. Argentina: Productos
Roche S.A. Química e Industrial, Olivos |
Givaudan Roure S.A., Buenos Aires.
Australia: Roche Products Pty. Limited,
Dee Why | Givaudan Roure Pty. Ltd.,
Silverwater | Roche Vitamins Australia Pty.
Limited, South Wagga | Syntex Australia
Limited, North Sydney | Roche Diagnostics
Australia Pty. Limited, Castle Hill. Austria:
Roche Austria GmbH, Vienna | Roche
Diagnostics GmbH, Vienna. Bangladesh:
Roche Bangladesh Ltd., Dhaka. Belgium:
N.V. Roche S.A., Brussels | S.A. Citrique
Belge N.V., Tienen | Roche Vitamins N.V.,
Deinze-Astene | Roche Diagnostics Bel-
gium S.A., Brussels. Bermuda: Syntex
Pharmaceuticals International Limited,
Hamilton. Brazil: Produtos Roche Quími-
cos e Farmacêuticos S.A., São Paulo |
Givaudan Roure do Brasil Ltda., São
Paulo | Colborn-Dawes S.A., São Paulo.
Canada: Hoffmann-La Roche Limited,
Toronto | Givaudan Roure Inc., Toronto.
Chile: Productos Roche Ltda., Santiago de
Chile. China: Roche (China) Limited,
Shanghai | • Shanghai Roche Pharmaceu-
ticals Limited, Shanghai | • Roche Taishan
(Shanghai) Vitamin Products Ltd., Shang-
hai | • Roche Sunve (Shanghai) Vitamins
Ltd., Shanghai | • Roche New Asiatic
(Shanghai) Vitamins Ltd., Shanghai |
• Roche Zhongya (Wuxi) Citric Acid Ltd,
Wuxi | Beijing Boehringer Mannheim
ZhinXin Medical Technology Company

Limited, Beijing | • Shanghai Givaudan
Roure Limited, Shanghai | Roche Hong
Kong Limited, Hong Kong | Givaudan
Roure Ltd., Hong Kong | Roche Diagnos-
tics (Hong Kong) Limited, Hong Kong.
Colombia: Productos Roche S.A., Bogotá.
Costa Rica: Productos Roche Interameri-
cana S.A., San José | Roche Servicios
S.A., San José | Roche Costa Rica S.A.,
San José. Czech Republic: Roche s.r.o.,
Prague. Denmark: Roche a/s, Hvidovre.
Dominican Republic: Productos Roche
Dominicana S.A., Santo Domingo.
Ecuador: Roche Ecuador S.A., Quito.
Egypt: Rovigypt Ltd., Giza | Roche (Egypt)
Ltd., Giza. El Salvador: Productos Roche
(El Salvador) S.A., San Salvador. Finland:
Roche Oy, Espoo. France: Hoffmann-
La Roche France SAS, Neuilly-sur-Seine |
Produits Roche S.A., Neuilly-sur-Seine |
Roche Diagnostics S.A., Meylan | Société
Chimique Roche S.A., Village-Neuf |
Givaudan Roure S.A., Argenteuil | Labo-
ratoires Roche Nicholas S.A., Gaillard.
Germany: Roche Deutschland Holding
GmbH, Grenzach-Wyhlen | Corange
Deutschland Holding GmbH, Mannheim |
Hoffmann-La Roche Aktiengesellschaft,
Grenzach-Wyhlen | Roche Nicholas
Deutschland GmbH, Eppstein | Givaudan
Roure GmbH, Dortmund | Dr. Schieffer
Arzneimittel GmbH, Cologne | Roche
Diagnostics GmbH, Mannheim | Galenus
Mannheim GmbH, Mannheim | Hestia
Pharma GmbH, Mannheim. Great Britain:
Roche Products Limited, Welwyn Garden
City | Roche Diagnostics Ltd, Lewes |
Givaudan Roure Ltd., Milton Keynes |
Roche Registration Limited, Welwyn
Garden City. Greece: Roche (Hellas) S.A.,
Athens. Guatemala: Productos Roche
Guatemala S.A., Guatemala City. Hon-
duras: Productos Roche (Honduras), S.A.,
Tegucigalpa. Hungary: Roche (Hungary)
Ltd., Budapest. India: Roche Scientific

The Group holds an interest of over 90% in
most of the companies listed below. Exceptions
are marked either with a single dot
• • = Group interest 50–90%
or with a double dot
•• = Group interest <50%.

31 December 1999

Includes changes in Group membership
up to March 2000.

Operating Subsidiaries 
and Associated Companies
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Company (India) Private Limited,
Mumbai | Givaudan Roure (India) Limited,
Bangalore. Indonesia: P.T. Roche Indone-
sia, Jakarta | • P.T. Givaudan Roure,
Jakarta. Ireland: Roche Products (Ireland)
Limited, Dublin | Roche Ireland Limited,
Clarecastle. Israel: Roche Pharmaceuti-
cals (Israel) Ltd., Tel-Aviv. Italy: Roche
S.p.A., Milan | Roche Diagnostics S.p.A.,
Milan | Istituto delle Vitamine S.p.A.,
Milan | Givaudan Roure S.p.A., Milan.
Japan: Nippon Roche K.K., Tokyo | Givau-
dan Roure K.K., Tokyo | •• Nutritec Co.,
Ltd., Tokyo | Roche Diagnostics K.K.,
Tokyo | Roche Vitamins Japan K.K., Tokyo.
Malaysia: Roche Malaysia Sdn. Bhd.,
Kuala Lumpur | Roche Diagnostics
(Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd., Kuala Lumpur.
Mexico: Productos Roche, S.A. de C.V.,
Mexico City | Givaudan Roure, S.A. de
C.V., Mexico City | Syntex S.A. de C.V.,
Mexico City | Grupo Roche Syntex de
México, S.A. de C.V., Mexico City | Lake-
side de México, S.A. de C.V., Mexico City.
Morocco: • Produits Roche S.A., Casa-
blanca. The Netherlands: Roche
Pharmholding B.V., Mijdrecht | Roche
Nederland B.V., Mijdrecht | Givaudan
Roure B.V., Barneveld | Roche Diagnos-
tics Nederland B.V., Almere. New
Zealand: Roche Products (New Zealand)
Limited, Auckland | Givaudan Roure Lim-
ited, Auckland | Roche Diagnostics New
Zealand Pty. Ltd., Auckland. Nicaragua:
Productos Roche (Nicaragua) S.A.,
Managua. Nigeria: • Swiss Pharma Nige-
ria Ltd., Ikeja, Lagos State (divested in
January 2000). Norway: Roche Norge
A/S, Oslo. Pakistan: Roche Pakistan Ltd.,
Karachi. Panama: Productos Roche Inter-
americana S.A., Panama City | Productos
Roche Panamá S.A., Panama City. Peru:
Productos Roche Química Farmacéutica
S.A., Lima. Philippines: Roche (Philip-
pines) Inc., Makati. Poland: Roche Polska

Sp. z o. o., Warsaw | Roche Witaminy
Polska Sp. z o. o., Mszczonów. Portugal:
Roche Farmacêutica Química Limitada,
Amadora | Roche Sistemas de Diagnósti-
cas, Sociedade Unipessoal, Lda., Linda-
A-Velha. Puerto Rico: Syntex Puerto Rico,
Inc., Humacao. Russia: Roche Moscow
Ltd, Moscow. Singapore: Roche Singa-
pore Pte. Ltd., Singapore | Roche Diag-
nostics Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd., Singapore |
Roche Vitamins Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd., Sin-
gapore | Givaudan Roure Pte. Ltd., Singa-
pore. Slovakia: Roche Slovakia spol.s.r.o.,
Bratislava. South Africa: Roche Products
(Proprietary) Limited, Johannesburg |
Givaudan Roure (Pty.) Ltd., Johannes-
burg. South Korea: • Roche Korea Com-
pany Ltd., Seoul | Roche Diagnostics
Korea Co. Ltd., Seoul | Roche Vitamins
Korea Ltd., Seoul | Givaudan Roure Ltd.,
Seoul. Spain: Productos Roche S.A.,
Madrid | Roche Vitaminas S.A., Madrid |
Givaudan Roure S.A., San Celoni | Andreu
Roche S.A., Madrid | Syntex Roche S.A.,
Madrid | Roche Diagnostics, S.L.,
Barcelona | Boehringer Mannheim Roche
S.A., Madrid. Sweden: Roche AB, Liljehol-
men | Roche Diagnostics Scandinavia AB,
Bromma. Taiwan: Roche Products Ltd.,
Taipei | Roche Diagnostics Ltd., Taipei.
Thailand: Roche Thailand Limited,
Bangkok | •• Rovithai Limited, Bangkok |
•• Givaudan Roure Ltd., Bangkok |
•• Roche Diagnostics (Thailand) Limited,
Bangkok. Turkey: Roche Müstahzarları
Sanayi Anonim Şirketi, Istanbul | Roche
Diagnostics Sistemleri Ticaret A.S., Istan-
bul. Uruguay: Roche International Ltd.,
Montevideo | Sapac Corporation Ltd.,
Montevideo. USA: Roche Holdings, Inc.,
Wilmington (Delaware) | Hoffmann-
La Roche Inc., Nutley (New Jersey) | Roche
Laboratories Inc., Nutley (New Jersey) |
Roche Vitamins Inc., Parsippany (New
Jersey) | Roche Molecular Systems, Inc.,

Pleasanton (California) | American Roche
International Inc., Mount Olive (New Jer-
sey) | Roche Carolina Inc., Florence
(South Carolina) | Givaudan Roure Corpo-
ration, Teaneck (New Jersey) | Givaudan
Roure Flavors Corporation, Cincinnati
(Ohio) | Givaudan Roure Flavors, Inc.,
St. Louis (Missouri) | • Genentech, Inc.,
South San Francisco (California) | Syntex
(U.S.A.) Inc., Palo Alto (California) |
Roche Colorado Corporation, Boulder
(Colorado) | • Bayer-Roche L.L.C., Morris-
town (New Jersey) | •• Laboratory Corpo-
ration of America Holdings, Burlington
(North Carolina) | Roche Diagnostics
Corporation, Indianapolis (Indiana) |
Givaudan Roure (United States) Inc.,
Wilmington (Delaware). Venezuela:
Productos Roche S.A., Caracas.
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